Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Date

Tuesday 26 March 2019

Time

9.30 am

Venue

Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business
Part A
Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members
of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Substitute Members

3.

Minutes from the meeting held on 25 February 2019 and special meeting
held on 11 March 2019 (Pages 3 - 24)

4.

Declarations of Interest, if any

5.

Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties, if any

6.

Media Relations

7.

Visit County Durham - Development and Marketing Activity: (Pages 25 - 56)
(i) Joint Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships and the
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
(ii) Presentation by the Managing Director, Visit County Durham,
Regeneration and Local Services.

8.

Quarter Three: Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19:
(Pages 57 - 70)
Joint Report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
and the Corporate Director of Resources – Principal Accountant,
Resources.

9.

Quarter Three 2018/19 Performance Management Report: (Pages 71 - 90)
Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships – Strategy Team
Leader, Transformation and Partnerships.

10.

Refresh of the Work Programme: (Pages 91 - 104)
Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships – Overview and
Scrutiny Officer, Transformation and Partnerships.

11.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the meeting, is of
sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
18 March 2019

To:

The Members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee:

Councillor A Batey (Chairman)
Councillor M Clarke (Vice-Chairman)
Councillors E Adam, J Atkinson, R Crute, S Dunn, D Hall, T Henderson, P Howell,
S Iveson, P Jopling, L Maddison, J Maitland, R Manchester, R Ormerod,
A Patterson, E Scott, P Sexton and M Wilson
Co-opted Members:
Mr G Binney and Mrs R Morris

Contact: Martin Tindle

Tel: 03000 269 713

Agenda Item 3

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
ECONOMY AND ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
At a Meeting of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in
Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Monday 25 February 2019 at 9.30 am
Present:
Councillor A Batey (Chairman)
Members of the Committee:
Councillors E Adam, J Atkinson, M Clarke, R Crute, S Dunn, T Henderson, P Howell,
S Iveson, P Jopling, L Maddison, J Maitland, R Manchester, R Ormerod, A Patterson,
A Reed, E Scott and M Wilson
Co-opted Members:
Mr G Binney and Mrs R Morris
Also Present:
Councillor(s) J Clare
1

Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Hall and P Sexton.
2

Substitute Members

There were no substitute Members in attendance.
3

Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2019 were agreed as a correct record and
signed by the Chairman.
4

Declarations of Interest, if any

There were no declarations of interest.
5

Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties, if any

There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties.
6

Media Relations

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer presented Members with recent press articles relating to
the remit of Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (for copy see file of
minutes);

Page 3





7

A rallying call to Durham businesses as County Durham ‘bucks the trend’
Which option for the future of Durham’s bus station is just the first ticket
Major cycling event could be coming to County Durham in September
New Plans for Seaham town centre restoration
North East Local Enterprise Partnership

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships,
which provided Members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee with some background detail on the North East Local Enterprise Partnership (N
ELEP). Members also received a presentation from the Chief Executive of NELEP (for
copies see file of minutes) which set out the 4 key growth areas which had been identified
by the LEP of Digital, Advanced Manufacturing, Health and Life Sciences and Energy.
Reference was made to the key funding streams managed by the LEP and examples
reported of the various key capital projects delivered through these funding streams.
Councillor Crute emphasised the importance of skills development and transport
connectivity and infrastructure to the economic viability of the region and County Durham
and asked how the LEP ensured these were part of the project delivery. He also asked
how the region and County would fare from the development of the proposed shared
prosperity fund. In response the Chief Executive of North East LEP stated that there was a
focus on skills development and careers advice delivered through schools and FE
establishments. She indicated that regionally 155 of 170 secondary schools were signed
up to the careers advice service. She also indicated that the LEP was in dialogue with
Government about the shared prosperity fund although progress on this was being delayed
due to current Brexit negotiations.
Councillor Atkinson queried the financial forecast as it was based on income from sites
which had not yet been developed. The Chief Executive of North East LEP confirmed that
there was a detailed financial model used which involved working with the respective local
authorities, looking at what was proposed for Enterprise Zone sites, resulting in the
generation of a future business rate income from the various Enterprise Zones sites.
Calculations on future business rates were made on the size of the site and the value of
the site on completion. There was a risk, but the maximum spend was £150m and it was
confirmed that local authorities had entered into legal agreements with regard to the
management of funding and contingencies were in place to ensure that money was pooled
to cross fund if necessary.
In response to comments from Mrs Morris with regards to a lack of jobs and productivity,
the Chief Executive of NELEP advised that there was a list of key performance indicators
which confirmed that the figures were improving, but not as quickly as desired and that the
relevant KPIs could be circulated to the Committee. The reason for the lag was debatable,
but she advised that Brexit was a concern for businesses as it was predicted that the North
East would suffer the worst impact. With regards to selling and advertising the North East,
it was critical to exploit the unique assets of the North East and sell the region to investors.
The Local Industry Strategy and the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) were both key
documents. The Chief Executive agreed to circulate the link to the SEP.

Page 4

Resolved:
i)
ii)
8

That the report and presentation be noted.
That the North East LEP be invited to a future meeting of the Committee to share a
further update on the work of the North East LEP.
County Durham Skills Strategy

The Committee considered a joint report of the Director of Transformation and
Partnerships, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Corporate
Director of Children and Young Peoples Services, which provided Members with an update
on progress against the targets which were originally set in the Skills Strategy, and policy
developments which would inform decisions regarding the future direction of a Skills
Strategy for County Durham.
Members also received a presentation from the Strategic Manager Progression and
Learning and the Economic Development Manager (for copies see file of minutes).
Councillor Crute commented on the employment figures which were not broken down
enough to confirm the nature of employment. Some people included in those statistics
were on extremely low contracted hours, but still classified as employed. The Economic
Development Manager confirmed that employment rate figures included full-time, part-time
and even those on zero hours contracts. This masked the true picture of employment in
the County. It was known that some people entered employment on 6-8 hours per week
which did not provide a liveable income. Some further investigation could be made into the
GVA (Gross Value Added) figures, to confirm the contribution to Economy per filled job.
The Strategic Manager, Progression & Learning added that part-time employment had
reduced from 26% a couple of years ago and was currently estimated at 22.5%. Councillor
Crute replied that some people had more than one part-time job and were still struggling to
make ends meet and that the employment figures provided did not provide a full
representation of the quality of employment in the County.
Cllr Crute asked whether employers in the county took up skills development funding. The
Strategic Manager Progression & Learning confirmed that engagement between
businesses and schools was promoted by the Durham Education Business Partnership
and that there were 80 business ambassadors visiting year 11 pupils in schools to assist
with the development of employability skills. The number of ambassadors was lower than
it previously had been, however this was an area that was difficult to improve. The
Economic Development Manager confirmed that European funding had been sought to
pursue the North East Ambition Programme, in order to investigate business needs. In
addition, the Business Magnates Programme continued and the number of schools
participating continued to increase.
Councillor Atkinson referred to the 8.5% cohort with no qualifications, confirming that there
were still people who very capable of working, leaving school with no qualifications. This
was something which had been demonstrated over many years and there was a need to
identify these young people and work with them.

Page 5

He continued that there were a number of young people with degrees who were employed
in roles which didn’t require any qualifications and suggested that young people should be
targeted sooner to make them aware of all opportunities and options available. He asked
what support was available for 50 plus, people were having to work longer, however they
may not want to retrain.
The Economic Development Manager added that a lot of employability programmes were
aimed at over 50’s and 60’s, some of whom had potentially found themselves unemployed
after many years of working in the same post. There was sometimes difficulty finding
employers willing to take them on a trial basis, therefore they were dependant on the
labour market having similar posts to the skills they had acquired. With reference to
graduates working in lower paid jobs, many were unsure of the employment path they
wanted to take. Some would study out of County and not return and this linked to where
careers advice/guidance was structured in schools. He highlighted the importance of to
assisting young people in making a decision which was compatible with the available job
market upon completion of their course. The Strategic Manager, Progression & Learning
commented that the NELEP was also working on the career gap issue with primary
schools.
Councillor Atkinson spoke about the importance of Apprenticeships and his disappointment
that there seemed to be such a low take up considering the advantages on completion.
The Chairman advised that there also seemed to be a lack of encouragement from
parents, which also could have attributed to the decline in numbers.
Mrs Morris referred to the importance of having business representatives on school
governing bodies. They would be able to feed information directly to schools on important
areas to include in their curriculum. She also considered a skills strategy to be of
significant importance and felt disappointed that this was not a priority considering the
information given by the NELEP. She referred to recent radio coverage with regards to
local authorities who were prioritising a skills strategy. The Strategic Manager Progression
& Learning confirmed that there was hesitation in renewing the skills strategy, but no
suggestion there was not a need for one. The Business, Enterprise and Skills Working
Group leaded the Skills Strategy and therefore it was for them to determine as to whether
there was a skills strategy going forward and that there was uncertainty with regards to a
number of policy developments and the reason for the lack of commitment at the current
time, however, Members could be taken back to the group. The Economic Development
Manager confirmed that some local authorities had been driven to have a skills strategy
due to commissioning guidelines.
In response to a further question from Mrs Morris, the Strategic Manager Progression &
Learning confirmed that in relation to work related learning, schools did not receive funding
from the Council and Governing Bodies were being encouraged to appoint business
representatives.
The Economic Development Manager commented on a number of changes which would
impact on a skills strategy, therefore it was important to look at the timing of a refresh, to
make sure that it reflected the new Strategic Economic Plan.

Page 6

Councillor Adam was disappointed that there was no confirmed skills strategy considering
the work which had been done by the Committee previously and he referred to the figures
in the report which were contradictory to the report by NELEP. He also suggested that
people were failing to study NVQ’s and choosing to study at HNC or HND level instead.
The majority of employers in the County were small to medium entities who had no
resources or time to train people. There were issues with T Level Pilots failing as
employers lacked time and resources, there were also issues with Health and Safety and
employers not prepared to take on the responsibility at work experience level. Councillor
Adam queried the rationale in trying to create high end jobs as there was a possibility that
without the correct skillset, they were being filled by people who did not reside in North
East.
The Strategic Manager Progression & Learning confirmed that data for County Durham
was considered to have improved with regards to skills and qualifications, but there was
still a high number of people without qualifications. The data was resident based and
referred to the 100,000 target, confirming that of the 63,000 new jobs already created, it
was unknown how many were high level posts.
The Economic Development Manager confirmed that NELEP’s rationale was to create
more and better jobs and this would act as an anchor to bring more business and retain
employees in the area. The Chief Executive of NELEP recognised inclusion and
progression was key not only in chasing higher jobs, but ensuing there was a clear
pathway in the education system. There was a focus on newer jobs which perhaps were
not required before, such as in the digital market, and they were commissioning services to
ensure that this area was included.
The Strategic Manager Progression & Learning confirmed that only 7% of the budget was
made up with government funding and the overall budget for adult education in the North
East was £700,000. The majority of funding was sought from the EU and because it was
such a low budget, it was targeted towards adults with no skills. There were concerns with
regards to the shared prosperity and how it would be distributed amongst the different
areas. The Strategic Manager Progression & Learning would be happy to recommend a
new skills strategy, but there had to be a commitment from employers and colleges in order
for it to be successful.
In response to a query from Councillor Howell with regards to GVA (Gross Value Added)
per skilled job, the Strategic Manager Progression & Learning advised that she would seek
further breakdown of information and also with regards to the employment data.
Councillor Howell was optimistic with regards to the T Level Pilots, but queried the lack of
recent data and asked how it could be monitored more efficiently. The Economic
Development Manager confirmed that the Skills Advisory Panel were looking at getting
more recent data however he was aware that some of the data included in the figures was
generated by the Local Authority and could only be released following the end of an
academic year. Information with regards to the labour market was more up to date. The
Strategic Manager Progression & Learning confirmed that the delay was 15 months and
the data in the report was from the 16/17 academic year. Information from further
education colleges was expected by the end of March and this would give an indication of
the number of apprenticeships.

Page 7

The Economic Development Manager confirmed that in relation to the reduction in
apprenticeships, there had been reforms which had impacted on the way that funding was
allocated with employers using their own budget.
The Strategic Manager Progression & Learning confirmed that the reduction in
apprenticeships may be offset by an increase in Further and Higher Education.
Councillor Maitland noted that there was an age limit of 64 years, however the current
retirement age was 67 and this would only increase in future. She queried whether there
were opportunities for people outside of the threshold.
The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning confirmed that there were older
learners, but they had to secure alternative funding. The Economic Development Manager
confirmed that the National Retraining Scheme could have some influence over the way
older people were supported to access qualifications.
Resolved:
i)
ii)

9

That the report and presentation be noted.
That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee include in its
future work programme for 2019/2020 a further progress update on the Skills
Strategy.
Skills Development Support in County Durham

The Committee considered a joint report of the Director of Transformation and
Partnerships, which provided Members with an update on the progress made in relation to
recommendations contained within the OSC review group report of support provided for
skills development in County Durham (for copy see file of minutes).
Cllr Batey referred to the figure of 222 Durham County Council apprenticeships in
December 2018 and queried the target for local authorities and the total apprentice figure
for the Council. The Business Lead, Organisational Design and Development and
Workforce Development commented that the required percentage was 2.3% of total staff
which would require DCC to have 378 apprentices.
Councillor Atkinson referred to the importance of keeping young people interested in
apprenticeships, as they were a direct route into good quality employment. The HR
Business Lead OD/WFD confirmed that apprenticeships were promoted through ex Council
apprentice employee case studies, via social media and in schools.
Cllr Batey informed the committee that a recent AAP survey had shown that employment
and skills had slipped out of the top three priorities for AAPs. It was confirmed that the top
three priority themes across AAPs was now crime and community safety, town centres and
supporting older people/social isolation.
Councillor Clare commented on the results of the AAP survey which had confirmed that
employment and training was no longer a priority for the public and he was concerned that
people no longer felt it was a priority, as they considered it was being dealt with.

Page 8

He advised that National Apprentice Week was being held from 4-8 March however this
had only been conveyed to Members via a recent press release and he suggested
information was circulated to Members in advance as they had a community platform to
relay information.
Councillor Maddison queried whether the Council were able to monitor statistics with
regards to non-Council organisations, who employed apprentices and their rates of
retention. The Strategic Manager Progression & Learning confirmed that although
frustrating, data was not obtainable following the completion of an apprenticeship. Data
within the Council confirmed that 80% of apprentices secured full time employment
following completion of their study.
The Economic Development Manager confirmed that there was an overall 75% retention
rate after 15 months, however part of the issue was that upon achieving the qualification,
employees were able to secure alternative roles. This was a national issue and he also
commented that people moving on to better roles was positive.
Councillor Adam referred to the government requirement to publish destination data and
with regards to engineering apprenticeships and asked if data could be broken down and
provided with regards to the level framework and areas of study. The Strategic Manager
Progression & Learning confirmed that the data published was not broken down into
particular areas of study. The Economic Development Manager confirmed that Great
Aycliffe and Middridge AAP had supported funding directed at Engineering, however it was
noted (by Councillor Adam?) that they had pulled out as they were not receiving the quality
of programmes and having difficulty finding information on the programmes offered.
In response to Councillor Batey the Principal AAP Coordinator confirmed that there had
been an increase in crime and therefore crime and safety was moving back up the agenda.
There was concern about the decline of town centres and a need to support older people
suffering from social isolation.
Mrs Morris commented that some young people were unaware that they would receive
payment whilst undertaking an apprenticeship, although some apprenticeships offered a
substantial income. Some however were of a low income and this could be a primary
reason for not completing the programme.
Resolved:
That the report and update be noted.
10

Digital Durham Programme:

The Committee received a joint report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
and the Corporate Director of Resources which provided Members with an update on the
Digital Durham Programme (for copy see file of minutes).
Mrs Morris queried whether there were any plans to embrace new technology which could
provide ultrafast coverage as they had in other Countries. The Head of Digital and
Customer Services commented that access to superfast broadband was becoming a
necessary utility.

Page 9

He continued that one of the constraints under the current government contractual
arrangements was a price cap per property. He referred to the cost of digging trenches for
cables as being significantly more than the price cap in some situations and therefore there
was no alternative but to consider new technology. The third contract of the Digital
Durham Programme was looking at technologies such as fixed wireless and moving in a
different direction.
Councillor Henderson commented that there were particular issues with access to
broadband in rural areas of the county and highlighted that there are a lot of cottage
industries in the Dales. He continued that the sooner connectivity is extended to these
areas the better. He continued by commenting that he was surprised to find that areas
such as Shotley Bridge had issues with connectivity.
The Project Co-ordinator responded that the contract only allowed investment in more
traditional fixed line broadband however it was recognised that there more needed to be
done.
Councillor Reed confirmed that there were still issues in rural communities and some
people still had no connection at all. More people were required to work from home and
she was aware of one constituent who had moved home because of broadband issues.
The Project Co-ordinator confirmed that a limitation of fibre-based broadband was that if a
properties telephone line was more than 1500m to the cabinet, there would be a decline in
speed. Where this occurred, an additional fibre structure in closer proximity to the property
or an alternative technology such as fixed wireless could provide a solution.
Councillor Adam queried how much of the allocated funding was aimed at rural areas. The
Head of Digital and Customer Services confirmed that funding was aimed at all areas
where commercial operators did not provide a service and that this could only be used for
broadband connectivity and not in improving 4G technologies. The funding could however
be used to deliver broadband wirelessly if the business case was favourable. Contract 3
was being used to consider how to solve issues in the hardest to reach areas of
approximately 5,000 properties.
Councillor Dunn was concerned about the issues of rural properties and connectivity and
commented that more and more businesses were enabling staff to work from home and
young people needed to access the internet. He was concerned that if rural communities
were unable to receive the technology, people would choose to live elsewhere.
The Head of Digital and Customer Services confirmed that there were bids for additional
funding however many grants such as the Rural Broadband Fund had spending
restrictions.
Councillor Clarke commented that he represented Delves Lane, Consett and had to date
never received an email about poor broadband connectivity. In relation to Contract 3 he
queried whether it would only look at remote access or whether it would address problem
spots in areas where issues had been identified. He also queried how the remaining
money would be spent, what the split would be between existing inefficient infrastructure
and areas which need new infrastructure to be installed.
The budget was not a considerable budget, given the amount of work that needed doing.

Page 10

The Head of Digital and Customer Services confirmed that there was an ongoing process
considering those with poor or no access and a schedule of properties to target, together
with plans of how the properties were going to be connected.
Councillor Clare commented on the positive work already undertaken by Digital Durham
but he criticised the contract delivery of Openreach. He then asked for confirmation that
there was no new funding for Contract 3. The Head of Digital and Customer Services
confirmed that the budget/funding for Contract 3 was money that was left over from the first
contract, with a small amount of early gainshare (clawback) as a result of the good take up
of broadband services, and potential funding from the Rural Broadband Fund. Councillor
Clare commented that more Government funding was required by Government to ensure
connectivity in the county.
Councillor Adam commented on savings made due to austerity and queried whether any
funding was from the Council, as it was clear that more investment was needed. The Head
of Digital and Customer Services confirmed that there was funding from the Council within
the Digital Durham programme, but it had to be noted that government funding changes
had seen budgets become smaller and were allocated to very specific projects and
accessed by a bidding process. Councillor Howell responded that there was a need to
determine what the £12m would be spent on before DCC looked to Government for more
funding.
Resolved:
i)
ii)
11

That the report be noted.
That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee receives a
further progress report on the development of the Digital Durham programme.
Overview and Scrutiny - County Durham Plan and Housing Strategy Workshop

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
which provided Members with a copy of the Overview and Scrutiny response which has
been fed into the ongoing Housing Strategy consultation (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the report and response be noted.

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
ECONOMY AND ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
At a Special Meeting of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee held in Committee Room 1A-1B, County Hall, Durham on Monday 11
March 2019 at 9.30 am
Present:
Councillor A Batey (Chairman)
Members of the Committee:
Councillors E Adam, J Atkinson, M Clarke, R Crute, S Dunn, T Henderson, P Howell,
S Iveson, R Manchester, A Patterson and E Scott
Co-opted Members:
Mr G Binney and Mrs R Morris
Also Present:
Councillors J Turnbull, J Charlton, M Wilkes and J Clare
1

Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Hall, P Jopling, J Maitland,
A Reed, P Sexton and M Wilson and C Hampson and C Wilson from the Safer and
Stronger Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
2

Substitute Members

No notification of Substitute Members had been received.
3

Declarations of Interest

Councillors P Howell and M Wilkes declared an interest in Item 6, Private Sector Housing,
as private landlords.
4

Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties

There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties.

Page 13

5

Local Industrial Strategy

The Chairman introduced the Regeneration Policy Team Leader, Glenn Martin and the
Innovation and Business Growth Director, Business Durham, Catherine Johns who were in
attendance to give an update on progress in relation to the Local Industrial Strategy (for
copy see file of minutes).
The Regeneration Policy Team Leader reminded Members he had attended Committee
around a year ago to give an update as regards the position in terms of the Government
White Paper in relation to the Industrial Strategy and Local Industrial Strategies (LIS).
Councillors were referred to a slide setting out the UK Gross Domestic Product (GDP) per
hour worked from 2016 against those of other G7 countries, being fifth of those seven
countries.
The Committee were reminded of the five Productivity Foundations: Ideas; People;
Infrastructure; Business Environment; and Places. The Regeneration Policy Team Leader
added that there were also a number of Grand Challenges, namely: Artificial Intelligence
(AI) and the Data Economy; the Future of Mobility; Clean Growth; and the Ageing Society.
Members were reminded of Sector Deals, with the current areas being: aerospace; AI;
automotive; construction; creative; life sciences; nuclear; and rail. The Regeneration Policy
Team Leader noted that other sectors deals were in the pipeline, noting one sector which
was keen to secure a deal, yet had not secured a deal, was the steel industry. It was noted
that in terms of the automotive deal, it was explained that the car manufacturer Nissan had
not been mentioned.
Councillors were remined of Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), including the North
East’s (NELEP), role in terms of the LIS, that: “Local Enterprise Partnerships will adopt a
single mission; to promote productivity by delivering Local Industrial Strategies”. It was
added that within the Government Policy Prospectus published in October 2018, it had
been set out there would be waves in terms of LISs, with wave one including: Manchester,
the West Midlands; the Cambridge to Oxford Corridor and Buckinghamshire. Members
noted that wave two would included the NELEP, the Tees Valley LEP and four other LEP
and Combined Authority (CA) areas. It was explained that it was envisaged by
Government that the LIS would be in place by the end of 2019.
The Regeneration Policy Team Leader explained that guidance in relation to the North
East was to: increase productivity; set out the spatial impacts of national policy; and also
assumed LEP and Mayoral CAs had the same geographies, which was not the case and
was also not the case for several areas elsewhere in the country. It was reiterated that
Government saw LEPs as being the lead in terms of LISs and as the Vice-Chair of the
County Durham Economic Partnerships (CDEP) sat on the NELEP LIS Evidence Forum
there was the opportunity for County Durham to feed into the LIS process. Councillors
were reminded of the launch of the NELEP’s Strategy Economic Plan (SEP) and noted that
the LIS would be aligned to this, however, the LIS would have a sharper focus on
productivity and look to pick up on one or two of the grand challenges previously
mentioned.
Members were informed that the LISs would be developed with Government, with a
standard branding and be published by Government.

Page 14

The Regeneration Policy Team Leader explained that one element yet to be understood
was that of the Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF), which would replace EU funding following
Brexit. The Officer added that it was envisaged that it would be linked to the LIS being in
place and having projects identified. It was noted that a key challenge would be in each
LEP retaining their distinctness.
Councillors were asked to note how delivery would be influenced, with engagement
through the NELEP Boards, the North East Combined Authority (NECA), consultations and
Officer engagement. It was added that there would be continued lobbying via: Civil
Servants; the Industrial Communities Alliance; the County Council’s Network; the Chief
Economic Development Officers’ Society; and other various groups and networks.
The Regeneration Policy Team Leader noted the issues in terms of the LIS and the SEP,
with the NELEP seeing the focus of the SEP to be on productivity. It was added there was
also issues in terms of resources once a LIS was in place, and that while there had not
been a great deal of progress since last year, there was the additional guidance and
information in terms of sector deals.
The Chairman thanked the Officer and asked Members for their comments and questions.
Councillor R Crute noted he had hoped for more in terms of the extent of ambitions of the
LIS, with Government simply stating “good jobs” whereas the SEP noted “more and better
jobs”. He added that given the history, transport, University and technology in our County
he would have assumed “the bar would have been set very high” and be linked to the
issues of skills and transport. The Regeneration Policy Team Leader noted he agreed,
however, with national employment being around 75 percent, he felt Government was
complacent in terms of creating more jobs as such. He added there was the additional
challenge in the North East in relation to issues such as ill health and those in receipt of
benefits. The Regeneration Policy Team Leader noted this was a message that was
continued in terms of lobbying to raise the bar higher in relation to jobs. Councillor R Crute
noted the 75 percent employment, however, he reminded Members that the Committee
had previously remarked that those jobs were not all quality jobs and that there was a need
to create those quality jobs to allow people the freedom and confidence to spend.
The Innovation and Business Growth Director noted a key performance indicator for
Business Durham was how many jobs were at a level greater than the average level and
was important in relation to directing resources. She added the focus of the LIS being
productivity was essential and those grand challenges intersected with many high value
sectors.
Councillor E Adam noted he agreed with Councillor R Crute and suggested that the lack of
progress nationally had been as a consequence of Brexit. He added his concerns was with
the sector deals announced and the NELEP being within wave two, asking whether being
within wave two would mean the NELEP and therefore the County missed on the
opportunity to capture those types of businesses we would want to attract. The
Regeneration Policy Team Leader noted that Buckinghamshire, a wave one area, had a
similar geography however, their performance is better than County Durham’s and included
several large profitable businesses including Silverstone; Pinewood Studios and many
businesses that were ran from home.

Page 15

He added there could be some analysis in terms of how they had achieved where they are,
though he noted that successful areas would likely continue to be successful and that it
would be for areas such as County Durham to look to maximise upon their own successes.
The Regeneration Policy Team Leader explained an area Buckinghamshire struggled with
was having a large number of premises and areas ready for businesses to move into. He
explained that County Durham had a number of large premises and areas ready for
business coming in the future and that this, together with other factors such as the lower
cost of living, counted in the County’s favour and these elements could be marketed. In
relation to the NELEP being part of wave two and potentially missing out in comparison to
wave one areas, the Regeneration Policy Team Leader noted that County Durham had
always been successful in being able to “punch above its weight” and that while it would
have been preferable to be within wave one, it was understandable in terms of the national
economy why those wave one areas had been chosen. Councillor E Adam noted he still
felt as if those in the North East were treated as “second class citizens” and that
Government was not interested in the North East. He noted he appreciated the hard work
undertaken by the Officers from the Council, Business Durham and the NELEP.
Mrs R Morris noted she had attended the launch of the SEP and while the report and
presentation provided a good update in terms of strategy she did not get a feel as regards
County Durham. She referred to paragraphs 16 and 17 of the report, setting out the
County’s strengths and asked if there was more information relating to this aspect. Mrs R
Morris noted that she felt a Skills Strategy was missing in terms of preparing County
Durham, referring to recent Ofsted ratings highlighting 50% of schools within the County
being “inadequate”. She added that it was with sadness she had noted the desire to attract
graduates from outside the County and suggested it was vitally important for us to train our
young people. Mrs R Morris noted concern in terms of one organisation collecting
information and asked how education and training are linking into the process. She also
asked if information was coming from the “Northern Powerhouse”; noted that the County
did not have businesses within all eight of the sectors with deals; and concluded that the
requirement for the strategy to be published by the end of 2019 did not leave much time.
The Regeneration Policy Team Leader agreed and added this was a reason for the focus
and that for the Council the Regeneration Statement may require an update, to add in
greater emphasis on issues such as the skills agenda. He explained that Government
focussed upon infrastructure projects. Mrs R Morris asked how the targets set out within
the report would be achieved.
The Innovation and Business Growth Director noted that Business Durham was not one
organisation collecting data, rather they were drawing together available data from many
sources to develop a concise summary, add actions, delivery and outcomes. She added
that County Durham represented 20 percent of the jobs within the NELEP and often the
County “hid its light under a bushel” and there was a need to help demonstrate our
successes and give examples of the story of our “place”. She added that therefore it would
be important to try to influence our LIS in terms of County Durham.
Councillor J Atkinson asked for any further information in relation to the SPF. The
Regeneration Policy Team Leader commented that the shared prosperity fund would look
to replace EU funding from the end of 2020. He added that consultation as mentioned by
Government on this had not yet materialised and therefore there was an opportunity to tell
government what we wanted. Councillor J Atkinson asked if there was a number in terms
of the funds that would be made available via the SPF and how they would be applied.

Page 16

The Regeneration Policy Team Leader explained that hopefully this would be devolved to
the LEPs and that funds would be used in line with the LIS priorities. He added that it was
not yet known as regards the amount of funding, however as County Durham was a
“Transition Region” and attracted additional funding there would be a push to ensure that
there was something similar in place. He noted that amounts as regards the SPF could
become apparent from the Government Funding Review.
Councillor M Wilkes referred to paragraph 16 of the report noting 100,000 jobs for the
North East and suggested this may be a typographical error. The Regeneration Policy
Team Leader explained that this should have read 10,000. Councillor M Wilkes noted the
jobs safeguarded via the activities of Business Durham were around 250 per quarter and
asked how many were created each year in County Durham and how we would plan if
there were no EU funding or equivalent SPF monies. The Innovation and Business Growth
Director explained that there was a target for Business Durham and she could circulate a
response to this. She added that it was important to create “beacons”, for example in the
Teesside area in the 1970-1980s ICI was a huge draw, in terms of direct and indirect jobs.
It was added that this idea needed to be developed further in County Durham, building
upon our successes at NETPark, the four technology centres and two catapults with
national acclaim and the University of Durham, a world class institution. The Innovation
and Business Growth Director noted a need to focus and tell the story of County Durham to
let our successes shine.
Councillor M Wilkes asked at what point would it be said to Business Durham that we had
not seen this shift and to look again at the direction, especially for the young people within
out County. He added that he would not wish to have an approach of simply building more
houses in order to create more wealth, rather than focus on creating more high-end jobs,
his concern was that this was not happening quickly enough. The Innovation and Business
Growth Director noted that the Business Durham Advisory Group had representation in
terms of the Leader of the Council and that it had been agreed to ramp up work, focussing
on successes such as the technology centres and catapults, linking in to the Grand
Challenges mentioned and looking to match up with available funding. She added that
there was an exciting shift taking place and that the new “Powered by People” campaign
was adding to that momentum.
Councillor P Howell noted the issues raised in terms of the alignment of NECA, LEP and
Local Authority areas, and asked if in our region, between the Tees Valley LEP and North
of Tyne CA, would County Durham become squeezed and how would we address this. He
also asked as regards the challenge in terms of good quality jobs, creating the channels
and routes to allow people to take up opportunities. He noted the excellent job site at
Newton Aycliffe and that the area also had some of the largest unemployment in the county
and asked how we would align training with job creation. The Innovation and Business
Growth Director noted she did not feel there was a finite pool of jobs and that County
Durham would be able to attract a number of companies with an offer that was high tech
and based upon people, product and prosperity. She agreed in terms of skills, noting that
Business Durham looked to create demand and it was for other organisations to look to
skills development. The Regeneration Policy Team Leader noted he too agreed in terms of
we had a number of sites in place or planned and that skills to match requirements would
be important.

Page 17

Councillor S Dunn noted he felt that the Government’s Industrial Strategy was “paper thin”
and did not provide support for anyone and that those areas within wave one were the
areas were those being targeted and that these areas know what they are doing, and he
was not enthused that the NELEP was in wave two. He noted that EU funding streams
recognised need and there was a need to ensure that this fairness would be retained going
forward for our region and County Durham. He added he felt that the Government strategy
was politically driven, and that County Durham could lose out. Councillor S Dunn noted he
felt that the LIS being driven by the NELEP was a little indirect and asked what control and
influence County Durham could have on the LIS. The Regeneration Policy Team Leader
noted significant representation of County Durham on the NELEP itself, with the Leader of
the Council, and representation through the Innovation and Business Growth Director and
Dr Tim Hammond, Director of Commercialisation and Economic Development from
Durham University were on the NELEP Innovation Board.
The Chairman noted the frustration of Councillors in terms of the lack of clarity so far in
terms of moving from EU funding that had been needs based to the SPF with no indication
of how this would be allocated. The Innovation and Business Growth Director noted that
this frustration was shared by all Local Authorities and that there was the opportunity for
the region and County Durham to focus in the best of our people and place. She reiterated
that County Durham had a strong story to tell.
Councillor P Howell noted he agreed with the concerns expressed by other members in
relation to funding and how it is allocated.
Resolved:
(i)
(ii)

6

That the report and Committee’s comments be noted.
That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee includes in its
2019/2020 work programme a further progress update on the development of the
Local Industrial Strategy.
Private Sector Housing

The Chairman asked the Housing Manager, Shirley Janes to give a presentation on Private
Sector Housing (for copy see file of minutes) and noted the Public Health and Housing
Manager, Neil Laws was also in attendance to provide additional information.
The Housing Manager reminded Members of the empty building protocol in place with
partners, including Durham Constabulary and the County Durham and Darlington Fire and
Rescue Service (CDDFRS), and that while this had only been in place for one year it
appeared to be working well. She added that further information as regards this would be
reported back at a future meeting of the Committee.
The Housing Manager explained as regards the collaborative approach taken with Housing
Solutions, Public Health and Private Sector Housing and key partners. She noted that
following restructures, several services that were separate now operated within the
Regeneration and Local Services Directorate and therefore there was improved links in
terms of the proactive work of Housing Solutions and the regulatory and enforcement work
undertaken by Public Health and Private Sector Housing.

Page 18

It was noted key partners included: Planning Enforcement; Regeneration; Building Control;
Neighbourhood Protection; Durham Constabulary; and CDDFRS.
The Committee were reminded that from 2011 Census data it was shown that for the
private rented sector in County Durham that 14 percent of households privately rented,
representing a rise of 78 percent between 2001 and 2011. The Housing Manager
explained that in order to have more up-to-date information, a “data warehouse” was being
developed and this was starting to show there was a percentage of private rented sector
greater than 14 percent, with further information as regards this coming forward likely later
this year. Members were reminded that the Council intervened mainly in deprived areas,
mostly in respect of terraced housing, and in many cases where there was a landlord from
out of the County. It was noted that from the various evidence gathering in terms of
strategies, such as the Homelessness and Housing Strategies, it was clear there was a
need for accommodation and that included properties within the private rented sector. The
Housing Manager noted 6,900 long term empty homes in the County including both private
and social housing, though the majority being in the private sector. She added that this
total number also included homes where individuals were in care or had deceased and the
property remained empty.
Councillors noted the initiatives and interventions available, including advice and guidance
for landlords on their rights and their responsibilities and in terms of negotiations and
mediations between landlords and tenants. The Housing Manager added that important
work was undertaken in attempting to sustain tenancies and now within the service there
was capacity to follow this up. It was explained that where referrals were made, for
example to Neighbourhood Wardens, the case would not be closed, rather the information
would be retained and followed up on.
The Housing Manager noted the voluntary accreditation scheme, celebrating four years in
April 2019, which had 139 landlords and 2,621 properties. It was noted the scheme was
still promoted and there was a 50 percent renewal rate, with many new landlords with one
or two properties feeling they had learned from their first year within the scheme and
therefore did not renew. It was added that there were several landlords however that had
renewed annually since 2015. In evaluating the scheme, a landlord focus group had been
established, with the first having 12 landlords, and issues raised including fees and the
Council’s rent guarantee scheme. The Housing Manager noted her team would inspect a
property prior to any bond being given.
Councillors learned that in terms of tackling empty properties there was a scored
assessment, in order to prioritise resources. The Housing Manager noted that within the
Empty Homes Team, Council had resolved to have an extra resource and three additional
staff had been appointed. It was explained if there was a report of an empty Home a
matrix would be completed and a priority of low, medium or high allocated. Members noted
171 properties having been brought back into use since the April 2018 report. It was
explained that even in those cases identified as low priority, a letter was sent to landlords
or property owners to ask of their intentions. The Housing Manager explained that the
collaborative approach allowed for utilisation of information from other services in being
able to track down property owners. It was added the Council would look to negotiate and
educate property owners as regards what options were available, with: help to sell, rent or
lease; interest free loans, where a property was up to a Council standard; and “move-in”
grants.

Page 19

Councillor R Crute left the meeting at 10.20am
The Housing Manager noted that the eligibility for the moving incentive grant included: the
property being Council Tax Band A or B; being long term empty, for six months or more;
and with the occupier to live in the property for a minimum of five years. It was noted there
was a targeting of areas where social landlords had disposed of stock in an attempt to
change the types of tenure within areas. It was explained that in the year-to-date there had
been 75 grants, achieving target.
Members noted that the annual target for bringing empty homes back into use had been
120, raised to 150 and the current year-to-date figure being 171. It was explained that from
April 2019 the target would be increased to 210 as this was felt to an achievable amount.
Councillors were reminded the joint reporting protocol was working well and that an Officer
working group had been established to look at the very difficult properties and to coordinate
in looking at all issues that may be affecting a property such as debt, notices, local land
charges and to look at actions that could be taken, including enforced sales if required. It
was noted that work in relation to the Towns and Villages Programme fed into this process.
Councillors noted there was a central database for all reporting, via telephone, e-mail and a
new web-portal which had the ability to pin-point on a map and attached pictorial evidence.
The Housing Manager noted challenges included: limited powers; landlords being viewed
as a burden, rather than a stakeholder and valued resource; access to affordable housing,
including zero tolerance and spare room subsidy; the Housing and Planning Act 2016,
including civil penalties and selective licensing areas. Members noted some actions
included: rent repayment orders following landlord prosecutions; banning orders, adding
the landlords to a national “rogue landlords” database, however this only had two landlords
listed in the past 12 months, though as enforcement action could take up to 12 months
then this number may not necessarily be reflective as of yet. It was noted there was also a
number of other legislative changes such as the Houses Fit for Human Habitation Act 2019
from 1 April 2019 that had elements including the ability for tenants to take landlords
directly to court without Local Authority involvement. Members noted the Tenancy Fee Act
that would come into effect from 1 June 2019, where administrative fees in terms of holding
or processing would no longer be permitted. It was noted this could have implications, with
some landlords noting this could result in a loss of staff or a rent increase to cover costs. It
was added there was the Energy Efficiency Act 2011 requiring an energy performance
certificate of “E” or higher before a property could be lawfully let. The Housing Manager
noted there was a redress scheme being developed in relation to landlords, akin to an
ombudsman, though there had been little parliamentary time given to such matters given
the current position to Brexit.
Members noted challenges for landlords included: negative equity, preventing the ability to
borrow to fund improvements; 150 percent council tax; rising costs; renting properties as a
business, domestic use and properties as an investment, the example being the cost for
waste furniture/goods removal by the Council for a tenant leaving a property was £20,
whereas if the items were left and the landlord contacted the Council, the fee would be
£220.

Page 20

The Housing Manager noted that in the wake of Universal Credit, a number of landlords
across the country were now stipulating “working families only”, with the Government
looking at the issues and saying that this was not allowed, though a search reveals
thousands of such advertisements across the country stipulating this.
The Housing Manager noted a forward plan of actions, including: early intervention and
prevention; supporting tenants and landlords; multi-agency problem solving and
partnership working, an example given in relation to a recently held event in Chester-leStreet with 40 landlords in attendance; risk based intelligence led enforcement;
development of a Private Sector Housing and Empty Homes Policy; development of a
programme of buy to Lease properties; development of the business case for county-wide
Selective Licensing; and area based initiatives such as the Community Action Team (CAT)
programme, town and village centre regeneration and time-limited projects (TLPs). It was
noted the Chairman of the Committee had chaired a TLP in the Grange Villa area, with the
work, with partners, having proven to be very good and effective. It was noted there had
been another positive TLP in the Shildon area and two further TLPs were ongoing along
with a TLP to start in Horden.
The Chairman noted that the involvement of the CAT had help turnaround many issues,
and for context explained in the Grange Villa area 240 of the 470 houses were within the
private rented sector, over 50 percent. In addition, only 20 of the landlords lived outside of
a 45-50 mile radius of Grange Villa. The Chairman added that many Members could give
examples within their areas of long-term empty properties that unfairly subjecting other
residents to the associated issues.
Councillor J Turnbull left the meeting at 10.20am
The Housing Manager noted that the Officer Working Group as mentioned would look at
those types of more difficult, long term empty properties and Councillors could feed in any
information via her team.
The Chairman thanked the Officers and asked Members for their comments and questions.
Councillor E Adam noted within the executive summary set out in the report, paragraph two
set out that “the private rented sector was a growing and valuable part of the housing
market with many people choosing to live in private sector housing accommodation whilst
other have no other available option”. He explained he did not agree with this assessment
and that he felt that there was not sufficient social housing in place. He added that in terms
of around 28,000 households representing the number of private rented homes, 2,621
properties within the voluntary accreditation scheme this represented a small percentage.
He noted that he felt that properties should be for local people and communities and
therefore should not be ran for profit where the Local Authority was having to invest
significant resources and chase up landlords. Councillor E Adam asked in terms of the
number of cases where public money had been used to bring a property back into use and
it subsequently returns to being empty and in disrepair; how many remain in private
ownership and whether there had been repeated spend on some properties. The Housing
Manager noted that since monitoring in 2014, over 700 had been brought back in to use,
with some being empty once again as there were simply in between tenancies. She added
some properties would be sold on, and the Council would monitor disrepair.

Page 21

The Housing Manager highlighted the differences in terms of Selective Licensing,
Accredited Landlords and empty properties and noted that for those 700 properties that
had been brought back into use, for the landlords to access funding they must be
accredited.
Councillor J Atkinson asked as regards the cost to the Council in terms of policing rogue
landlords and the anti-social behaviour of some tenants and whether if there were more
punitive options whether this could impact positively. The Housing Manager noted this was
why selective licensing was being looked at as a tool, as licences “had teeth”. The
Chairman noted that following the recent Overview and Scrutiny workshop on the County
Durham Plan (CDP) many Members felt that information highlighting the differences
between the selective licensing scheme and the accreditation scheme would be useful.
Councillor M Wilkes noted a particular empty property in his Division that had been empty
prior to the ratings system being in place and asked how the Council could help tackle
absent landlords, in terms of making it more expensive for them or to take possession of a
property. He added that some landlords had stated that the reason they did not take up
the offer in terms of the voluntary accreditation scheme was that they felt it did not do very
much and the inspection requirements were not sufficient to allow landlords to have “peace
of mind”. He noted the change in legislation as regards energy efficiency levels and asked
how the Council would be able to check. Councillor M Wilkes asked as regards the zerotolerance approach of social housing providers and asked if this, and the situation as
described in relation to universal credit, would push many vulnerable people into the
private rented sector and was there anything the Council could do to assist those
vulnerable people. The Housing Manager noted in terms of arrears in some circumstances
where a tenant was at risk of becoming homeless the prevention fund may be able to
assist and then the Council would encourage the tenant to work with a Credit Union and
help via Welfare Reform Officers in relation to issues such as universal credit. In relation to
the longer-term empty properties, the Housing Manager noted the use of Empty Dwelling
Management Orders (EDMOs) and Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs), with the threat
of these approaches being taken helping to focus the attention of a landlords.
Councillor M Wilkes noted the interest free loans and asked in cases of negative equity
could the Council place a land charge against another property within a landlords’ portfolio,
or indeed their primary residence. The Housing Manager noted that if the loan was greater
than at 120 percent of the value then a charge would be placed on another property.
Councillor P Howell reiterated his scepticism as regards the landlord accreditation scheme,
having signed up and yet to have been inspected. He added that he felt that a 50 percent
renewal was an awful rate and that there was a difference between those landlords
operating a business, for example with 20 or more properties, and those individuals with
one or two properties. He asked of those landlords involved with the focus group, was
there a mix of “business” landlords and those “forced” landlords, for example having been
left a property within a will. He noted each type of landlord faced difficult challenges.
Councillor P Howell asked in terms of the empty homes strategy whether there was a
targeted approach of if there was a blitz in particular areas. He added that if social
landlords were excluding difficult tenants then this was very bad for vulnerable people and
asked if there were any way to persuade social landlords to help those people. The
Housing Manager noted that social providers would take vulnerable tenants if the tenants
were engaging and working with Council services and teams.

Page 22

It was added that some tenants, through issues such as previously high rent arrears or
damage to a property, may find that landlords would not be willing to take them. She
added that this would help inform the business case for selective licensing.
Councillor P Howell noted he felt that if there was a selective licensing in one area, this
would simply push those tenants into other areas. The Housing Manager noted this was
why the business plan was looking to have the whole of County Durham covered in terms
of selective licensing and that she would take back the issues in terms of accreditation and
inspections.
Councillor S Dunn noted he was delighted with the report and presentation on this issue
and agreed with Councillors M Wilkes and P Howell on the issues they raised in terms of
vulnerable people, including those in receipt of universal credit, being excluded from social
housing. He noted he felt that the system of universal credit was wrong and spiralling out
of control and leaving some people with no way out. He noted that comprehensive
registration could not come soon enough and that inspections should be such to weed out
those properties not up to the required standards. Councillor S Dunn added he felt that
700 properties back into use was a good record, however, with 4,900 empty properties, he
felt there was still a need for further resources to bring more back into use for residents
within the County. He added that he had a worry as regards the current situation with
Brexit and that many people had bought property to rent out as a “nest egg” and that with
issues, such as negative equity and rising costs, landlords could find themselves in
difficulty and that perhaps the Local Authority and social landlords should have the powers
to take a property from a private landlord if they cannot get a property back into use. The
Housing Manager noted that there was the option to use EDMO, noting greater resources
in place now to help with this type of situation to evidence where work had been attempted
to sustain a tenancy prior to any EDMO. She added that the Authority could look to
manage a property for a period of seven years, and at the end hand the property back or
look to extending the order. It was stressed that any mortgage would still be the
responsibility of the landlord.
Councillor J Clare noted a number of support mechanisms available to social landlords in
trying to sustain a tenancy however private landlords do not have access to such support
mechanisms and a disparity in terms of private landlords whereby they could look to drive
tenants out. He added that selective licensing may help in this regard, however, he noted
there was a need for support mechanisms to be in place as regards vulnerable tenants.
Councillor J Clare asked for clarification as regards the Housing Solutions Team only
organising accommodation via social or accredited landlords. The Housing Manager noted
that initially the Council would approach social providers or accredited landlords, if it was
not possible then other landlords would be approached. Councillor J Clare noted that
perhaps accredited landlords could feel as if they were being forced to house tenants with
multiple problems. The Housing Manager highlighted that the majority of tenants do not
have complex issues. She added that private landlords were often willing to take a chance
in order to try and help tenants, though she gave an example where a privately let property
had £4,500 of damage caused and this had made the landlord unwilling to take on tenants
via the choice-based lettings scheme.

Page 23

Councillor A Patterson noted that the Housing Strategy contained a lot of important
information and encouraged members to read the document if they had not already done
so. She continued that a common theme that was emerging was the impact of universal
credit and deprivation. She added that she felt there was a need for Overview and Scrutiny
examine the impact of Universal Credit and deprivation in the county as this issue has
been raised across the thematic Committees. She highlighted that it is vital that we
understand how to tackle the issues and also how to fund initiatives.
Councillor J Charlton asked what the costs were to landlords in terms of the accreditation
scheme. The Housing Manager noted it was a sliding scale, the Principal Overview and
Scrutiny Officer, Stephen Gwillym noted: for 1-10 properties it was £150; for 11-50 it was
£250; for 51-100 it was £350; and for more than 100 properties it was £500.
Councillor S Dunn left the meeting at 11.25am
Councillor J Charlton noted that she felt the lowest end of the scale was perhaps a little too
expensive, Councillor A Patterson noted landlords could mitigate the cost through a very
small increase to rents. The Chairman noted that when chairing the TLP as previously
mentioned, barriers to joining the accreditation scheme were discussed and the benefits of
joining the scheme were highlighted to landlords. The Housing Manager reminded
Members that the accreditation scheme was being reviewed.
The Chairman asked if there were any points the Public Health and Housing Manager
wished to add. The Public Health and Housing Manager noted that the collaborative
working, with shared databases for example, was extremely useful and in terms of
targeting resources, the newly established Officer Working Group would help in terms of
highlighting those properties that were taking up the most time and resources for the
Council and partners. He added that in terms of the extension to licensing of houses in
multiple occupation, he felt that this could only help to drive up standards and in the City
the increase in the number of new high- quality purpose build student accommodation
(PBSA) was also forcing private landlords to improve their offer.
Resolved:
(i) That the report and Committee’s comments be noted.
(ii) That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee continues to
monitor the progress of the various activity undertaken with the private rented sector
with a further progress report scheduled in the work programme from 2019/20.

Page 24

Agenda Item 7

Economy and Enterprise Overview and
Scrutiny Committee
26 March 2019
Visit County Durham (VCD) –
Development and Marketing Activity

Joint report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and
Partnership and Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The report provides members with background information on the
activity undertaken by Visit County Durham (VCD) to develop and
promote County Durham as a tourism destination prior to a
presentation by Sarah Johnson, Marketing and Communications
Manager, VCD, Regeneration and Local Services.

Executive summary
2

Members will recall that previously we have received detail of progress
made in relation to the recommendations contained in the scrutiny
review report focusing on the activity undertaken by VCD to develop
and promote the County as a tourism destination with the last update
considered by the committee at the meeting on the 5 April 2018.

3

The committee has now received the required three updates on the
recommendations contained in the Scrutiny review report. However,
to ensure that members are kept informed of the various development
and marketing activity undertaken and the performance of VCD,
arrangements have been made for Sarah Johnson, Marketing and
Communications Manager to attend the meeting on the 26 March 2019
to deliver a presentation focusing on:
 Partnership support and industry engagement
 Destination development
 Marketing and information

Page 25

A copy of the presentation slides are attached as appendix 2.
4

It is proposed that the committee will continue to monitor the
performance of VCD in developing and marketing the county as a
tourism destination with a further update included in the committee’s
2019/2020 work programme.

Recommendations
5

That the Environment and Sustainable OSC and the Economy and
Enterprise OSC consider and comment on the information provided in
this report and presentation provided at the meeting.

6

That the Environment and Sustainable Communities OSC includes in
its work programme for 2019/2020 a further progress report detailing
the future performance of VCD in marketing the county as a tourism
destination together with examples of marketing undertaken.

Background
7

Visit County Durham is the destination management organisation
(DMO) for County Durham working on behalf of businesses and public
agencies, we came into being on 1 April 2006.

8

Our purpose is to provide strategic added value, coordination and
leadership to tourism activity and the visitor economy in the county for
public agencies, private sector, local authorities and tourism
businesses. We deliver the county’s destination management,
destination marketing and place marketing functions.

9

Our main activity is destination management. This means influencing
or delivering directly activities that relate to visitors and the visitor
economy, including marketing, information services, product
development, visitor experience, business engagement and workforce
development.

10

Many people are involved in delivering a vibrant visitor economy,
which is why we work in partnership with businesses, stakeholders
and partners from across the county, in the region and nationally with
England’s tourism board VisitEngland. We take a different role in each
of our areas of activity depending on need and existing arrangements.

11

Our objective is to ensure that the tourism sector performs to its
maximum capacity and brings economic benefits to the county in the
form of wealth and job creation. Our broad aims are to attract people
to the area and to provide visitors with the best possible experience.

Page 26

County Durham Visitor Economy
12

The Durham Tourism Management Plan (DTMaP) is the destination’s
plan which converts local, regional and national market research and
strategies into a county-based plan to grow the county’s visitor
economy. The plan is for all organisations and individuals in Durham,
and, where relevant, national bodies to help them understand what is
being done, what needs to be done and how they can contribute to
Durham’s success.

13

The 2012 DTMaP set out a vision for the visitor economy that included
ambitious targets for growth. One of which was the visitor economy
would be worth £863.4 million by 2020 against a baseline measure of
£738 million in 2011.

14

Since 2012 the county has seen continued year on year growth of
approximately 2-3% in both the volume – number of people visiting
and value – economic benefit to the local economy.

15

The latest figures for 2017 show:


19.71m visitors, up 2.4% on 2016



£866.71m expenditure, up 5% on 2016



Total employment of 11,682 (FTE), up 5% on 2016

16

The 5% increase in visitor expenditure in 2017 means the visitor
economy is now valued at £866.7 million, resulting in the achievement
of the target of £863.4 million by 2020 three years ahead of original
projections.

17

At a meeting of the Visit County Durham Ltd Board in September 2018
a revised target for the value of the visitor economy of £1 billion by the
end of 2020 was approved by Directors.

18

This, again, is an ambitious target realistic given the amount of largescale tourism development projects currently underway across the
county, these include: the Auckland Castle Trust multiple projects in
Bishop Auckland; Remaking Beamish; developments at Raby Estates;
visitor centre and visitor accommodation at the Durham Heritage
Coast; developments in Durham City and a number of smaller projects
underway that will add to the critical mass of accommodation,
attractions and activities.

Page 27

Partnership support and industry engagement
19

There is c850 core tourism businesses in the county –
accommodation, attractions and activities, plus an additional 500 plus
businesses that contribute and are integral to the visitor economy,
these include transport, cafes, restaurants, retail and suppliers of
services to the tourism industry.

20

The VCD partnership scheme offers a package of enhanced
promotional and tailored business support activities in exchange for an
annual fee. The scheme is designed to encourage collaborative
working for the benefit of the destination and does not exclude those
who cannot afford to or do not want to pay. We continue to work with
all visitor economy businesses and reinvests income generated
through the scheme into initiatives that benefit the industry.

21

We engage with and support partners via several channels. Our
weekly e-newsletter the Wednesday Grapevine is sent to over 1,200
contacts. Tailored training sessions are held throughout the year; in
2018/19 sessions included astro-tourism, weddings, social media,
YouTube and informal drop-in days. We have an annual programme of
industry events which includes informal networking and a spring and
autumn conference.

22

In addition to our general partnership scheme we offer a Strategic
Partnership service for key businesses to shape and influence
destination development and marketing activity for Durham, this is an
evolution of the Strategic Marketing Partnership that was set-up to
deliver the Regional Growth Fund campaign. We work together in
partnership to develop and deliver domestic and overseas marketing
activities, monthly and annual themed campaigns.

23

Strategic Partnership is targeted at organisations that have an
influential position within Durham’s visitor economy, they are integral
to the success of Durham, share VCD’s ambitions and have significant
capacity to help boost the area’s profile and drive forward its future
growth and success. 23 organisations are currently signed up as
Strategic Partners.

24

Visit County Durham continues to work in partnership with travel
organisations who represent key points of entry in to the county,
including the Port of Tyne, Newcastle and Durham Tees Valley
Airports, LNER and TransPennine Express to identify opportunities to
promote Durham through their activities, and to ensure VCD and
partners are aware of travel partner initiatives that would benefit our
own work.

Page 28

Destination development
25

Work with national partner destinations remains focussed on product
development to capitalise on Governments £40m Discover England
Fund to help secure the county’s future as a leading destination. Visit
County Durham is a partner destination in 3 x large scale £1.5m
projects:
 The Explorers Route (A1) – targeting Germany
https://www.visitlondon.com/englandoriginals/
 England Originals (15 x heritage cities) – USA
https://www.theexplorersroad.co.uk/
 Manchester Gateway (excursions from the airport) – USA
https://www.visitmanchester.com/things-to-see-anddo/gateway-to-the-north/explore-the-north

26

The aims of the Discover England Fund projects are to increase the
volume of international visitors by creating itineraries that showcase
the city and county or excursions that open up the North of England.

27

A suite of toolkits has been produced to highlight wider market
opportunities for those operating within the visitor economy. The aim
is to provide hints and tips to businesses who are interested in
attracting new markets – astro-tourism, walking, cycling, accessibility,
visitor welcome, equestrian and dog friendly.

28

The regional Northern Saints Group, led by Visit County Durham, will
start work on a project in April 2019, regenerate and create linked
long-distance trails based on the heritage of Northern saints and the
tradition of pilgrimage. The routes will be themed to draw together key
aspects that link the saints with artefacts, heritage sites and buildings,
and the stories of the saints.

29

We are working in partnership with Durham Police, Durham Prison,
Durham Courts, Durham University, Beamish Museums, Durham
Cathedral and DCC Archives and Heritage team to explore the
potential of a Crime and Punishment theme for the city.

30

In early 2018 VCD and the DCC Regeneration team commissioned a
county-wide accommodation study focussing on the potential for hotel
developments in Durham City, Bishop Auckland and Seaham. Sector
specific studies are underway for glamping, bed and breakfast, and
pub accommodation. The final report will be complete in summer 2019
and VCD will work with potential investors and existing providers to
implement the findings from the study

Page 29

31

Visit County Durham offers support, advice and guidance for potential
investors in the county’s tourism product and submits formal
responses to tourism planning applications. The last year saw a record
number of enquiries totalling 83, ranging from glamping pods to visitor
attractions. Tailored support is provided for key capital developments.

Marketing
32

Visit County Durham continues to raise the profile of the county as a
destination for outdoor breaks, with the delivery of two successful
national marketing campaigns.

33

Countryfile presenter Anita Rani travelled to Durham to help launch the
2018 ‘Great Outdoors’ campaign, where she starred in a video
showcasing the best outdoor activities to enjoy during a break to the
county.

34

The video, which has generated over 126,000 views since its release,
showcased some of the most popular walks in Durham City, the
Durham Dales and the Durham Heritage Coast, and presenter Anita
enjoyed family activities including cycling and walking in Hamsterley
Forest and also experienced the dark skies of the North Pennines
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

35

The current ‘This is Wild, This is Durham’ campaign, delivered in
partnership with Hamsterley Forest and Raby Estates, launched in
October 2018 and will run for six months. Activity includes a
promotional partnership with BBC Countryfile magazine and a series
of blogs with high-profile bloggers Family Travel Collective,
showcasing the very best of Durham’s wild landscapes and wild
activities, attracting both outdoor enthusiasts and families looking for
new experiences.

36

The county’s past was brought to life by Visit County Durham’s
successful ‘This is History, This is Durham’ national marketing
campaign, which ran from April to August 2018. Delivered in
partnership with Beamish Museum, Durham Cathedral, Durham
University, The Bowes Museum and Raby Castle, plus
accommodation partners; Seaham Hall, Raddison Blu Durham, Hotel
Indigo, Headlam Hall and The Rose & Crown at Romaldkirk, campaign
activity included a series of promotional videos which achieved over
150,000 views, along with a partnership with family blogger Travel
Loving Family, and national media coverage in The Times, The Sun
and Prima Magazine.

Page 30

37

The county’s place brand, ‘This is Durham, Place of Light’, developed
by Visit County Durham, continues to be showcased through the
national Celebrating Durham campaign. Visit County Durham are
working closely with Durham County Council to shine a light on the
county's people, businesses and attractions which illuminate Durham
as a great place to live, work, visit, study and invest.

38

Activity has included national digital billboard advertisements on the
East Coast rail network, including London Kings Cross and Edinburgh
Waverley stations, as well as high profile advertising at Newcastle
International Airport. The latest in a series of supplements in The
Times national newspaper was published in December 2018, and
regional business advertorials have also featured in The Journal and
Chronicle regional press.

39

VCD is leading negotiations with the ECB/ICC Cricket World Cup 2019
team to ensure that the county derives maximum benefit from the
tournament which takes place from 30th May to 14th July 2019.

40

The tournament has an expected global viewing audience in excess of
1.56bn which makes it the third largest sport in the world, after the
Football World Cup and the Olympics. Durham Riverside will host
three games:




Friday 28 June, 10:30 Sri Lanka v South Africa
Monday 1 July, 10:30 Sri Lanka v West Indies
Wednesday 3 July, 10:30 England v New Zealand

41

VCD lead negotiations on behalf of Durham County Council, Durham
County Cricket Club and VCD to secure the commercial advertising
rights for Durham as a host city in exchange for a package of in-kind
support.

42

A County Steering Group has been established to ensure all relevant
partners are kept informed and regular meetings take place between
VCD, DCC Marcomms and Durham Cricket Club to support the
tournament with marketing and promotion for ticket sales, recruitment
of volunteers, trophy tour and raising awareness of the tournament.

43

The 100-day schedule for the domestic leg of the ICC Cricket World
Cup Trophy Tour started 19 February on its 100 day journey across
the length and breadth of England and Wales, making stops in more
than 20 towns and cities.

Page 31

44

The Durham section of the CWC Trophy Tour 6 – 8 April, will visit
some of the county's iconic landmarks and attractions, ahead of the
Cricket World Cup matches to be held at Durham’s Riverside ground.
Proposals for each venue will combine photo opportunities with family
focussed activity, confirmed locations are:




Saturday 6 April – Raby Castle
Sunday 7 April – April at Durham Cathedral and Durham
University will be rowing with the trophy down the River Wear
Monday 8 April at Beamish Museum and Durham County
Cricket Club in Chester-le-Street.

45

#Durham19 – the county’s Year of Culture. 2019 is designated as a
Year of Culture in Durham, with an unprecedented programme of
events, festivals, anniversaries and openings taking place across the
county.

46

For a number of years Durham has had continued growth and
investment in cultural, sporting and heritage activity through Durham
County Council, wider partners and cultural institutions large and
small, and 2019 sees the impact of this sustained investment.

47

The #Durham19 campaign, launched by Visit County Durham in
partnership with Durham County Council, County Durham Cultural
Partnership and partners from across the county, uses the Year of
Culture to attract overnight visitors, increase day visits and event
footfall, and engage with local communities.

48

Events with international profile, including the Cricket World Cup in
Summer and Lumiere Durham, the UK’s largest light festival in
November will put the county on the world stage, and multi-million
pound developments at Beamish, The Living Museum of the North,
Durham Cathedral and The Auckland Project, with Auckland Castle set
to reopen later this year, will make 2019 an unforgettable year. But
what makes the Year of Culture so unique to Durham is the diversity of
the annual programme, which covers sport, culture, arts and heritage;
with festivals that attract staying visitors, to events with their roots at
the heart of local communities.

49

Campaign activity will include: a series of Events Guides; a media
partnership with the Evening Standard; a partnership with What’s On
North East; editorial in regional newspapers; media visits;
commissioning of influencers; social media marketing; e-newsletter
marketing.

Page 32

50

The #Durham19 campaign also encourages event organisers and
businesses to capitalise on the county’s Year of Culture by utilising the
promotional platform, and using events, festivals, anniversaries and
openings in their own activities to attract customers. To provide
businesses with the support they need, a toolkit has been developed
and available to download from visitcountydurham.org/durham19.

51

A celebration event, held at Durham Town Hall on March 20th,
showcased some of the events, festivals and developments that are
set to make 2019 such an incredible year for the county, and gave
guests the opportunity to find out more about the #Durham19
campaign and the county’s Year of Culture.

Performance
52

Market intelligence is essential in order to accurately inform and shape
the work of Visit County Durham and our partners, we gather and
analyse current and relevant intelligence and information to help the
county’s tourism sector to prosper and grow.

53

One of the main pieces of research undertaken is the annual economic
impact assessment STEAM, which approaches the measurement of
tourism from the bottom up, through its use of local supply side data
and tourism performance and visitor survey data collection. The latest
results from 2017 show:


19.71 million people visited Durham in 2017, up by 2.4% on
the previous year.



The number of days visitors spent in the destination grew by
3% to 22.25 million visitor days.



Overall visitor expenditure stands at £866.71 million, up by
5% on 2016



The number of people directly employed in tourism in
Durham in 2017 stood at 9,350, up by 5% on the previous
year. When indirect employment in the supply chain is taken
into account total employment stands at 11,682, up also by
5%.



The number of overnight visitors to Durham stands at 1.536
million with these visitors spending 4 million nights in the
destination. These visitors spend £359 million while in
Durham, up by 9% on 2016.



Day visitor levels have grown by 2% to 18.2 million visitor,
with expenditure levels also up by 2% to £507.69 million.
Page 33



92% of all visits are day visits with these visitors accounting
for 59% of all expenditure.



Average expenditure for overnight visitors is £177.08 per trip
while the average day visitor spend is £20.71 per trip.

Challenges and opportunities
54

Day visitors decreased in 2017 by 1% with the split of day visitors vs
overnight visitors back at 2015 levels. Day visitors account for 92% of
all visits to the county with overnight visitors at 8%.

55

Despite our marketing efforts targeted to audiences external to the
county several factors influence the high proportion of day visitors
compared to overnight, including:


lack of visitor accommodation in key tourism areas



lack of visitor product, particularly targeted at the family
market



strong neighbouring destination brands (Yorkshire, Cumbria,
Scotland)

56

Developments are underway which will help plug some of the gaps
and improve the visitor offer, these include hotel, retail and leisure
developments in Durham City. Developments in Bishop Auckland.
Accommodation development enquiries in Seaham. Hotel
developments in Stanley and Consett. Smaller scale glamping and
self-catering developments in various locations across the county.
Strong festivals and events programme.

57

The Durham Place of Light place brand is helping to create a positive
image, reputation and identity for the county giving us a consistent and
coherent platform to tell the story of Durham, which will support the
county to compete with stronger, more well-known established brands.

Conclusions
58

Overview and Scrutiny members will be aware of work undertaken by
VCD, the various forms of marketing undertaken and the performance
of VCD in marketing the county as a tourism destination.

59

It is intended that the committee will continue to monitor the
performance of VCD in marketing the county as a tourism destination
and it is suggested that the committee includes a further progress
update in its work programme for 2019/2020.

Page 34

Background papers


Durham Tourism Management Plan 2016-2020



STEAM Economic Impact Report 2017

Other useful documents


Contact:

None

Michelle Gorman

Tel: 03000 261 221

Stephen Gwillym

Tel: 03000 268 140

Diane Close

Tel: 03000 268 141

Page 35

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Not applicable

Finance
Not applicable

Consultation
Not applicable

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Not applicable

Human Rights
Not applicable

Crime and Disorder
Not applicable

Staffing
Not applicable

Accommodation
Not applicable

Risk
Not applicable

Procurement
Not applicable

Page 36

Appendix 2

Visit County Durham
Tourism Development & Marketing
Economy & Enterprise OSC
Michelle Gorman, Managing Director

Page 37

Page 38

£1billion by the end of 2020

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Job creation
Successful businesses
Sustainable businesses
Improved visitor offer
Better tourism facilities
Viable communities
Developing offer for visitor and residents
Adapting the offer to market trends

Partnership support & industry
engagement
• 850 core tourism business + 500 secondary visitor economy
businesses
• Wednesday Grapevine weekly e-newsletter to c1,200 contacts
• Tailored training – social media, astro-tourism, weddings, etc.
• Industry events – conferences & networking
• Partnership approach to encourage collaborative working for the
benefit of the destination and businesses

Page 39

Page 40

Transport/travel Partners
• Celebrating Durham campaign – East coast rail network, London
Underground
• LNER support for campaigns and redesign of Durham station
walkway
• Port of Tyne – 2 x meetings with Strategic Partners
• Top 4 destinations for cruise ship passengers:
- Alnwick Castle
- Durham Cathedral
- North Pennines AONB
- The Bowes Museum /
Barnard Castle

Page 41

Page 42

Destination development – national
partnerships
• Delivering World Class Product – The Discover England Fund
• £40m programme announced by Government in 2016
• Visit County Durham partner in 3 x large scale bids:
- England’s Historic Cities – England Originals £1.6m
- Manchester Gateway Project – £1.5m
- The Explorers Road (A1) – £1.4m

Page 43

Page 44

Destination Marketing
• Work in partnership with strategic partners and tourism businesses
• Two major annual campaigns:
- Spring – heritage / history
- Autumn – outdoor activity
• Main aims:
- raise the national profile & appeal of the county
- encourage overnight stays – stay longer and spend more
- raise shoulder season occupancy
- raise awareness of distinctive Durham experiences
Page 45

Page 46

Outdoor campaign –
Autumn/Winter 2017/18

History campaign –
Spring/Summer 2018

Page 47

Page 48

Outdoor campaign –
Autumn/Winter 2018/19

#Durham19

Page 49

Page 50

Cricket World Cup 2019
Trophy Tour
• 6th, 7th and 8th April 2019
• Venues include: Raby Castle, Durham Cathedral, Durham
University (Rowing), Beamish Museum & Durham Cricket Club
Tournament
• Hosted by England and Wales, from 30th May to 14th July 2019
• 48 matches in total, 3 will be played in Durham
⁻ Friday, 28 June – South Africa vs Sri Lanka
⁻ Monday, 1 July – Sri Lanka vs Windies
⁻ Wednesday, 3 July – England vs New Zealand
Page 51

Page 52

Lumiere Durham 2019
•
•
•
•
•

UK’s largest light festival
Transforms Durham City into a magical open-air art gallery
Durham celebrates a decade of Lumiere in 2019
240,000 visitors in 2017
Highlights from the installations of the past ten years will be
brought back as part of the celebration of a creative event that has
quickly become synonymous with Durham

Page 53

Page 54

Destination performance
(STEAM Report 2016)

Economic value
• Economic value £866.71 million, up by 5% on 2016
• Food and drink and recreation main areas of expenditure
Jobs
• 9,350 directly employed in tourism
• 2,332 indirectly employed in the visitor economy
• Total – 11,682, up by 5% on 2016
Vale of Durham – main visitor product

Destination performance
(STEAM Report 2017)

Our visitors
• 9.71m visitors in 2017, up by 2.4% on 2016
• 1.54m overnight visitors per annum, spend = £359m
• 18.2m day visitors per annum, spend = £508m
• 92% day visitors, 8% staying visitors
• 92% of all visits are day visits with these visitors accounting for
59% of all expenditure
• Average expenditure for overnight visitors is £177.08 per trip
while the average day visitor spend is £20.71 per trip
Page 55

Page 56

Thank you

Agenda Item 8

Economy and Enterprise Overview and
Scrutiny Committee
26 March 2019
Regeneration and Local Services
(Regeneration and Economic
Development) – Quarter 3: Forecast of
Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19

Report of Corporate Directors
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Ian Thompson, Corporate Director Regeneration and Local
Services
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide details of the forecast outturn budget for this service area
highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget, based on
the position to the end of quarter 3 (31 December 2018).

Executive summary
2

This report provides an overview of the updated forecast of outturn,
based on the position at quarter 3, 2018/19. It provides an analysis of
the budgets and forecast outturn for the service areas falling under the
remit of this Overview and Scrutiny Committee and complements the
reports considered and agreed by Cabinet on a quarterly basis.

3

The updated position is that there is a forecast underspend of £1.277
million, against a revised budget of £57.724 million.

4

The revised service capital budget is £42.438 million with expenditure to
31 December of £22.632 million.

5

Details of the reasons for under and overspending against relevant
budget heads is disclosed in the report.

Page 57

Recommendation(s)
6

Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee is
requested to note the contents of this report.

Background
7

8

County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2018/19
at its meeting on 21 February 2018. These budgets have subsequently
been revised to account for changes in grant (additions/reductions),
budget transfers between service groupings and budget re-profiling
between years (in terms of capital). This report covers the financial
position for the following budgets of the services within the scope of this
committee;
(a)

Revenue Budget - £57.724million (original £55.814 million)

(b)

Capital Programme – £42.438 million (original £56.832 million)

The original service budgets have been revised in year to incorporate a
number of budget adjustments as follows:
























Page 58

Use of strategic reserves for redundancies for MTFP savings
+£192,000
Use of Cash Limits – Economic Devpt. & Housing +£114,000
Use of Cash Limits – Transport & Contracted Services +£52,000
Use of Cash Limits – Planning & Assets +£245,000
Use of Selective Licensing Reserve +£59,000
Use of Planning Reserve +£100,000
Use of Funding & Programmes Reserve +£30,000
Use of Match Fund Reserve +£254,000
Use of Economic Employability Reserve +£27,000
Use of International Relations Reserve +£11,000
Use of Housing Solutions Reserve +£123,000
Use of Warm and Healthy Homes Reserve +£51,000
Use of Welfare Assistance Reserve +£128,000
Use of Business Durham Programme Reserve +£192,000
Use of Business Growth Fund +£148,000
Use of Inspire Programme Reserve +£125,000
Use of Homelessness Reduction Reserve +£189,000
Use of FIP Reserve +£98,000
Use of Transport Infrastructure Reserve +£202,000
Use of Community Transport Reserve +£38,000
Use of Business Growth Fund +£12,000
Transfer to Family Improvement Programme -£22,000
Transfer to Homelessness Improvement -£460,000

9

The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the
financial year 2018/19 and show: (a)

The approved annual budget;

(b)

The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s
financial management system;

(c)

The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn;

(d)

For the revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash
limit (outside of the Service’s control) to take into account such items
as redundancies met from the strategic reserve, capital charges and
use of / or contributions to earmarked reserves.

Forecast Revenue Outturn 2018/19
10

The service is reporting a cash limit underspend of £1.277 million
against a revised budget of £57.724 million.

11

The following two tables show the budget analysed by subjective
category (type of expense), and then by Head of Service area.

Service Budget – Subjective Analysis £’000

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and Services
Agency and Contracted
Central Costs
GROSS EXPENDITURE
INCOME
NET EXPENDITURE

2018/19
Budget
£’000

YTD
Actual
£’000

29,319
6,635
803
10,462
19,458
39,993
106,669
(48,945)
57,724

21,792
4,501
652
6,727
14,010
826
48,508
(33,491)
15,017

Variance
(under) /
over
Forecast
of outturn spend
£’000
£’000
28,646
6,771
831
12,056
20,439
40,341
109,083
(52,281)
56,802

(673)
136
28
1,594
981
348
2,414
(3,336)
(922)

Items
Outside
Cash
MEMO:
Cash
Limit –
Cash
Transfers
Limit
Limit
to / From Variance Variance
Reserves QTR3
QTR2
£’000
£’000
£’000
(82)
(755)
(91)
0
136
84
0
28
(50)
(257)
1,337
582
37
1,018
824
0
348
574
(302)
2,112
1,923
(53)
(3,389)
(3,051)
(355)
(1,277)
(1,128)

Page 59

Service Budget - Analysis by Head of Service £’000

2018/19
Budget
£’000

Head of Service
Grouping
Corporate Director

YTD
Actual
£’000

Items
Outside
Cash
MEMO:
Variance Limit –
Cash
Cash
(under) / Transfers Limit
Limit
over
Forecast
to / From Variance Variance
of outturn spend Reserves QTR3
QTR2
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000

219

181

220

1

0

1

0

Economic Development
& Housing

6,441

6,102

6,163

(278)

427

149

(166)

Planning & Assets

4,425

4,511

3,447

(798)

(16)

(814)

(641)

Transport & Contracted

3,065

3,951

3,227

162

(765)

(603)

(307)

Central Managed Costs

43,755

272

43,745

(10)

0

(10)

(14)

NET EXPENDITURE

57,724

15,017

56,802

(922)

(355)

(1,277)

(1,128)

Cash Limit Outturn – Explanation of Over and Under Spending
12

The main reasons accounting for the outturn position are as follows:
 Transport is forecast to be £0.603 million underspent. This is
mainly due to underspends on bus and rail contracts (£0.481m)
and efficiency savings in Care Connect (£0.174m), which is
partially offset by increased costs within Strategic Traffic
(£0.038m).
 Planning and Assets is forecast to be £0.814 million underspent,
mainly resulting from additional planning fee income of £0.680
million, staffing underspends of £0.271 million due to delays in
filling vacant posts and additional income of £0.118 million at
Freemans Hydro. This is offset by additional costs relating to;
£50,000 on an Archaeology collection relocation from Bowes
Museum, £55,000 for corporate property health checks, and
£0.150 million for the ‘Powered by People’campaign.

Page 60

 Economic Development and Housing is forecast to be overspent
by £149,000. Economic Development is overspent by £156,000
largely on the employment & skills contract, due to DCC receiving
lower than expected outcome payments. Physical Development is
overspent by £16,000 due to additional project development
costs. There are combined net underspends on staff in other
service areas of £24,000. In addition, Business Durham is
underspent by £117,000 due to a net increase in rental income
and reduced costs, but this surplus will be taken to an earmarked
reserve to provide additional resources for important business
growth projects. Also Housing Solutions is underspent by £0.190
million due to savings on staff, savings on GRT site costs, and
additional income in Housing Initiatives but this surplus will be
taken to an earmarked reserve to provide additional resources for
important initiatives relating to preventing homelessness.
13

Appendix 2 provides a more detailed breakdown of variations across
the service area contained within the revenue budget.

14

In summary, the service grouping has successfully maintained spending
within its cash limit. It should also be noted that the estimated outturn
position incorporates the MTFP savings required in 2018/19 which
amount to £0.880 million.
Capital Programme

15

The capital programme makes a significant contribution to the
regeneration ambitions of County Durham. The programme is relatively
large and diverse and is managed by project delivery officers
throughout the service.

16

The capital programme was revised in May for budget re-phased from
2017/18. This increased the 2018/19 original budget. Further reports to
the MOWG detailed further revisions, for grant additions/reductions,
budget transfers and budget re-profiling into later years. The revised
budget now stands at £42.438 million.

Page 61

17

Summary financial performance to the end of December is shown
below.
Service

Economic Dev & Housing
Planning & Assets
Transport & Contracted
Total

Original
Annual
Budget
2018/19
£000
25,676
18,001
13,155
56,832

Revised
Annual
Budget
2018/19
£000
18,425
18,119
5,894
42,438

Actual
Spend to
31
December
£000
13,112
6,492
3,028
22,632

Remaining
Budget

£000
5,313
11,627
2,866
19,806

18

Officers continue to carefully monitor capital expenditure on a monthly
basis. Actual spend for the first nine months amounts to £22.632
million. Appendix 3 provides a more detailed breakdown of spend
across the major projects contained within the capital programme.

19

The key areas of spend to date have been on Durhamgate (£2.762
million), Disabled Facilities Grant payments (£2.923 million) and
Structural Capitalised Maintenance (£4.235 million). Other areas of the
programme are profiled to be implemented during the remainder of the
year and at year end the actual outturn performance will be compared
against the revised budgets and service and project managers will need
to account for any budget variance.

Background papers


Contact:

Page 62

Cabinet Report (13 March 2019) – Forecast of Revenue and
Capital Outturn 2018/19 – Period to 31 December 2018.

Philip Curran

Tel: 03000 261967

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Not applicable.

Finance
Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an
analysis of the revenue and capital projected outturn position.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Not applicable.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
Not applicable.

Staffing
Not applicable.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of
the Council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements.

Procurement
Not applicable.

Page 63

Appendix 2: Revenue Budget Variances – Quarter 3 2018-19

Head of
Service
Economic
Development
& Housing

Description
Service Area

Head of Economic
Development

Underspend on staff budgets.

Physical
Development

There is a net overspend of 16k on
professional fees and project development
costs offset by additional recharge income and
staff savings.

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

(29)

16
Visit County
Durham

There is an overspend of 5k on employee
costs due to unachieved staff turnover savings.

Business Durham

Business Durham has a net nil budget
projected.

5

Business Space is underspent by (21k). There
is an underspend of (217k) for NETPark due to
additional rent received in respect of the
Institute, Incubators, Discovery 2 and other
units. Business Space South is overspent by
146k as a result of under recovered income for
Salvus House pending the property being fully
occupied. The Dales Centre is underspent by
(18k) due to staff savings and reduced
premises costs. Business Space North is
overspent by 132k due to refurbishment works
at Derwentside Business Centre and Stella
Gill. The Management cost centre is Under
budget by (64k) due to Vacancies within the
new structure budget.
Business Growth, Development and Corporate
have a net overspend of 74k as a result of
recruitment expenses, hire costs and
unallocated savings targets.
The net underspend of (117k) on the activities
above has been earmarked as a contribution
to reserves for developing business growth
initiatives.

0

Page 64

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

Head of
Service

Description
Service Area

Economic
Development

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

There is an overspend of 248k in Employment
& Skills due to delays with the outcome
payments for the new service contract, and the
issue is currently being reviewed by all parties.
The management fee is being received but
outcome payments are significantly less than
anticipated. There is also a reduction in
anticipated income from ESG and Apprentice
payments.
There is an under spend of (24k) on
Employability due to backdated durhamworks
monies and vacant substantive post budgets.
There are net underspends of (68k) in
Community Economic Development,
International Relations and Economic
Development Management largely due to staff
savings and over achieved income.

156
Housing Solutions

Housing Solutions has a net nil budget
projected.
There is a net underspend of (30k) in Housing
Solutions Management for core funded staff
offset by overspends on transport and
supplies.
GRT site budgets are underspent by (137k)
due to savings on Premises and Supplies &
Services costs and additional income
generated.
Housing Initiatives, Activities and Improvement
are underspent by (73k) mainly due to
additional income from Darlington HIA and
landlord accreditation.
There is an overspend on Activities of 50k due
mainly to additional spend on bed & breakfast
temporary accommodation.
The net underspend of (190k) on the activities
above has been earmarked as a contribution
to reserves to support the Homeless Reduction
Support Contract.

0
Spatial Policy,
Planning
Assets &

Head of SPPAE

£150k Inward Investment Brand Development
(Powered by People)
£55k Corporate Property Health Check
£50k one off transfer to Culture & Sport re:

295

Page 65

149

Head of
Service

Description
Service Area

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

Archaeology at Bowes Museum
£17k funding of two posts
£23k Milburngate Bridge advice

Environment

Spatial Policy

Minor variances across service

Planning
Development

19/20 Savings Achieved
(£240k) overachieved income in Planning fees
Other
(£481k) underspend on Planning Development
- over-achieved income (£880k), offset partially
by £200k contributions to other services from
planning fee increase, £70k supplies (inc
dispute settlement at Ouston) and (£111k)
staffing underspends
(£176k) underspend on Building Control (£101k) staffing, delays filling vacancies,
supplies & services etc (£45k) & over-achieved
income (£30k).
(£66k) underspend on Business Dev Support (£41k) staffing and (£24k) supplies
£52k overspend on Dangerous Structures re
Waldridge Club (charge placed on land)
(£20k) underspend on Appeals
£38k Landscapes - overspend re: underachieved income of £17k & £20k re: FBRG
grants not claimed in 17/18 as well as £13k
Lidar & photography, partially offset by various
underspends (£12k).
(£27k) Sustainability - underspend re:
additional grant income for REBUS/LOCARBO
(partially offset by £15k GENEE & £12k EV
Roadshow -. Plus (£17k) underspend on solar
maintenance.
£6k overspend elsewhere across the service

Environment &
Design

(12)

(930)

17
Assets

Page 66

£70k overspend on staffing due to 14
additional fixed term posts, part offset by
vacancies
(£42k) underspend at The Tommy Armstrong
Centre where lease has now expired
(£102k) underspend on Freemans Hydro,
(£43k) additional income and (£58k) repairs
budget not needed
(£14k) additional income at Freemans Reach
£86k overspend at Northumbria House,
Waterstons moving in but 1 year rent free
(£13k) underspend at Priory House. Tenant
had rent free period but will be start paying
from 08/02/2019 (full year income will be £94k)
(£52k) underspend on Surplus Property,
(£22k) utilities and (£30k) additional income
£31k overspend elsewhere across the service

(36)

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

Head of
Service

Description
Service Area

Strategy Policy
Partnerships &
Support

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

(£105k) underspend on staffing due to delays
in recruiting to two new posts and a vacant
post
(£24k) underspend on Income re: secondment
to NECA to end of July
(£15k) underspend on training and supplies

(144)
Funding and
Programmes

Minor variances across service

(4)
Transport

Management
Strategic
Transport

14k Minor variance pending a re-allocation of
savings
Use of cash limit reserves to cover Tour
Series £38k and Earmarked reserve for
Relief Road £698k
Employees - (£16k) underspend - due to
vacant posts, reduced hours and flexible
retirement offsetting vacancy savings and
MTFP
Premises - £2k overspend - £44k overspend
on rates, offset by savings on repairs and
utilities costs
Transport - £35k overspend - due to
blacksmiths charges being charged through
fleet system, budgets to be realligned for 19/20
Supplies and Service - £86k overspend due mainly to cost for traffic signals,
communication devices & computer
equipment. Plus costs for Claypath Traffic
Management
Third Party Payments - £366k overspend mainly due Scarlet band contract increase
£114k and NSL minimum wage £30k. £120k
overspend on contract costs at Park & Ride
Costs for reimbursements & Operation of sites.
£58k overspend on Traffic Signals & Census
costs. £26k overspend on Rights of Way
Footpath maintenance.
Income - (£435k) over-achievement on
income - mainly due to (£246k) on and off
street parking income (Sands reduction in Q2
added back into forecast). Additional (£87k)
income from Park & Ride. Additional (£60k)
income from enforcements and additional
(£36k) income for Traffic Signals.

14

38
Sustainable
Transport

Outside cash limit variances £46k related
to Concessionary Fares.
Employees - (£87k) underspend - due to
vacancies and reduced hours offsetting
unallocated MTFP Saving £20k.
Transport - (£26k) underspend - due mainly

Page 67

(814)

Head of
Service

Description
Service Area
to vehicles being disposed of and not replacing
old vehicle currently in use.
Supplies & Services - (£52k) underspend mainly due to (£35k) reduction in costs for
DBS checks and (£13k) underspend on
telephone costs.
Third Party Payments - (£242k) underspend
- mainly due to (£121k) underspend on Local
Bus Services, (£75k) temporary services due
to road closures and (£37k) underspend on
concessionary fares.
Income - (£120k) over-achievement Reduced income £262k from recharge for
Adult fleet and £37k for reduced DBS income,
covered by (£396k) increased income from
Bus and Rail contracts

Care Connect

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

(481)

Use of Earmarked reserve £75k for Home to
Hospital contribution.
Employees - (£133k) underspend - due
mainly to vacant posts not being filled and
control of overtime levels in service.
Premises - (£8k) underspend - due to
electricity saving.
Transport - £7k overspend - due to increased
dayworks charges on older vehicles prior to
replacement.
Supplies & Service - £35k overspend - due
to £89k purchase/rental of additional
equipment required being partly covered by
reduced (£60k) underspend in CCTV general
costs.
Third Party Payments - (£53k) underspend due to (£48k) decrease in costs in localities
and (£5k) decrease in costs for CCTV.
Central costs - £20k overspend - due to
writing off of bad debts in year.
Income - (£42k) over-achievement on
income - Additional (£14k) income in CCTV,
additional (£10k) in localities for additional
Home to Hospital works over the winter period
and some general additional income in
Localities.

(174)
Central
TOTAL

Page 68

Corporate Director
and Central Costs

(Under) /
Overspen
d £000

(603)

Minor variances

(9)

(9)
(1,277)

Appendix 3: Capital Programme 2018-19

Revised
Annual
Budget
2018/19

Actual
Spend to
31
December

Remaining
Budget

£’000

£’000

£’000

Scheme
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & HOUSING
Durhamgate
Industrial Estates
North Dock Seaham
Office Accommodation
Town Centres
Minor Schemes
Disabled Facilities Grant / FAP
Housing Renewal
Chapter Homes
TOTAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & HOUSING

2,871
2,856
30
2,416
1,865
168
4,355
2,814
1,050
18,425

2,762
2,296
3
341
1,258
84
2,923
2,395
1,050
13,112

109
560
27
2,075
607
84
1,432
419
0
5,313

PLANNING & ASSETS
Renewable Energy Schemes
Capitalised Structural Maintenance
North Pennines - Peatland
REAL – Beamish Project
REAL – Housing Development
Minor Schemes
Strategy and Programmes Minor Schemes
TOTAL PLANNING & ASSETS

385
5,150
3,037
3,683
435
50
5,379
18,119

405
4,235
678
1,016
132
26
0
6,492

(20)
915
2,359
2,667
303
24
5,379
11,627

2,212
3,682

988
2,040

1,224
1,642

5,894

3,028

2,866

42,438

22,632

19,806

TRANSPORT & CONTRACTED SERVICES
Local Transport Plan
Transport Major Schemes
TOTAL TRANSPORT & CONTRACTED
SERVICES
Total
(1) FAP – Financial Assistance Programme

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
26 March 2019
Quarter Three 2018/19
Performance Management Report

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and
Partnerships
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the
council’s corporate performance framework for the Altogether Wealthier
priority theme.

Performance Report for quarter three, 2018/19
2

The performance report for quarter three, 2018/19 is attached at
Appendix 2. It is structured around a set of key questions aligned to the
Altogether Wealthier priority theme and includes the key performance
messages from data available this quarter along with visual summaries
and data tables for each key question.

Future Performance Reporting
3

As our current vision, which forms the basis of this performance report,
is over nine years old and many of the original aims have been
achieved, we are developing a new set of proposed ambitions that
better reflect the needs and opportunities of County Durham.
Consequently, from quarter one, 2019/20, the format and content of this
performance report will change to align it to the new vision.

Executive summary
4

The medium-term employment rate remains positive and there are early
indications of further improvement, although productivity in the county
remains sluggish and is constrained by relatively large numbers of
people of working age on state benefits or with low earnings. Inward
investment into the county is continuing (£17 million during quarter
three) and an estimated £1.5 million in economic benefit was realised
from our four latest tourism and cultural events (Tour Series, Brass
Page 71

Festival, Book Festival and North Pennines Stargazing Festival).
Turning to housing, as fewer households than anticipated contacted us
through ‘duty to refer’, we have enhanced communications to ensure all
relevant public bodies are aware of their obligation to refer those who
are homeless or threatened with homelessness to Housing Solutions.

Risk Management
5

Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda.
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and
improvement projects.
There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme.

Recommendation
6

That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee
considers the overall position and direction of travel in relation to quarter
three performance, and the actions being taken to address areas of
underperformance.

Contact:

Page 72

Jenny Haworth

Tel: 03000 268071

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Not applicable.

Finance
Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and
financial planning.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring
process.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and
disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Staffing
Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has
been included to monitor staffing issues.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is
integrated into the quarterly performance management report.

Procurement
Not applicable.

Page 73

This page is intentionally blank

Page 74

Appendix 2

Durham County Council
Performance Management
Report
Quarter Three, 2018/19

Page 75

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 76

1. Do residents have good job prospects?

80

% of working age population (aged 16-64) in employment
(rolling year average from Annual Population survey)

74.4

75
70

Work and Health Programme

Throughout 2018,
 794 referrals received
 582 people engaged
 80 people moved into full-time employment

68.6
67.5

65

County Durham
Lower confidence interval (Q3 2018/19)
Confidence Interval

60
2013

2014

2015

For those prevented from working due to a health condition

2016

2017

Key employment stats for the county
79.3% male employment
69.8% female employment

2018

North Durham Assist and
South Employability Mentoring
Services to help people aged 25+ into employment / start their own
business.

Launched during quarter, and to date,
 39 people engaged

5 people moved into employment

73.5% of employed people work in the private sector
28.0% of employed people work part-time

Wheels to Work (W2W)

56.9% employment in 16 to 24 age group
85.0% employment in 25 to 49 age group
67.2% employment in 50 to 64 age group
9.5% employment in 65+ age group
82.9% employment rate for those without a disability
employment rate for those with an Equality Act

49.4% core or work limiting disability

 Additional employment rate information available here

Moped loan scheme to help people into employment, education or
training that would otherwise be inaccessible due to poor transport
connections or out-of-hour work

Since 2016 launch, 89 people helped,
 74 into employment
 12 into apprenticeships

3 into education
Area Action Partnership funded until June 2019. Looking at other
funding sources to retain the scheme and expand countywide

Altogether Wealthier
1

The priority theme of Altogether Wealthier is structured around the following five
key questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

Do residents have good job prospects?
Is County Durham a good place to do business?
Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Is it easy to travel around the county?
How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?

Do residents have good job prospects?
2

Since quarter two, the employment rate has increased by 2.8 percentage points
and is above the 73% target in the Regeneration Statement. However, as the
rate is an estimate from a sample survey it is possible that this increase is due
to random sample variation, although the increase does remain within the
estimated confidence intervals (+/- 2.9%). We will know if this is the case at the
next data release in April.

3

The employment gap across County Durham between those with an Equality
Act core or work limiting disability and those without a disability increased from
37 percentage points in 2014 to 46.6 percentage points in 2016. However, this
has now fallen to 33.5 points, while the national gap has remained stable at
around 27 points.

Page 77

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 78

2. Is County Durham a good place to do business?

GVA per filled job (productivity)
(Value of goods and services produced per filled job)

£38,575 (2009)

County
Durham

£46,371 (2017)
£46,276 (2009)

National

Comparison

£55,157 (2017)
Co. Durham +20%
National +19%

 An explanation of how GVA per filled job is
calculated can be found here

County Durham Plan
Changes made following the most recent consultation include;




fewer proposed housing sites (43 to 28)
safeguarding two potential routes for a possible Northern Relief
Road
more flexibility in town centre policy, recognising the full
spectrum of town centre uses

We are now consulting on the pre-submission draft of the Plan until
8 March 2019.

Business Durham Activity
5 inward investments secured

Compared
to Q2

4

£17m value of inward investments
£6m ERDF grant approved
84% Business Durham floor space occupied
765 jobs created (472) or safeguarded (293)
£19.2m GVA from jobs created/safeguarded

 1.4pp
 192%
 11.5m

Is County Durham a good place to do business?
4

County Durham has historically suffered from the lower wage economy
compared to national averages and has the fifth lowest GVA per filled job in its
peer group areas in the North East of England (out of seven NE areas1), when
comparisons of productivity are made. Productivity in the county continues to
rise at a similar rate to regional and national productivity growth, while still being
constrained by the relatively large number of persons of working age in the
county on state benefits and low earnings (compared nationally). However, it
still remains below UK productivity levels by 14.6%.

5

During quarter three, five inward investment projects, valued at more than £17
million, came to fruition. These projects include VBites, which has purchased
the former Walkers crisp factory at Peterlee and intends to create 300 jobs, and
a plastic recycling plant for Biffa in Seaham.

6

‘Finance Durham’, which helps deliver business and economic growth across
the county by supporting Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs)
struggling to access the growth finance needed to develop their businesses,
completed three investment deals. Dyer Engineering, based at Annfield Plain,
received £750,000 to support its growth plans and exploit new business
opportunities. Parsons Containers, based at Sedgefield, received £500,000 to
support its growth plans, enhance its digital presence and support the business
to open four new sites for its self-storage brand ‘U hold the Key’. G20 Water
Technology received £200,000 to help increase its Research and Development
facilities at its laboratory at NETPark.

7

During quarter two, Business Durham applied to the European Regional
Development Fund (ERDF) for a £6 million capital grant. This application has
now been approved and will provide grants of up to 40% to businesses
investing at least £100,000 in capital equipment or new premises to support
their growth.

8

Due to ERDF funding, businesses which have been trading for less than 12
months can now apply for funding of up to £10,000 (previously £2,500) through
the ‘Durham City Incubator’, an initiative with Durham University and New
College Durham for business owners and entrepreneurs across the County.

1

Productivity comparisons are calculated using Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics (NUTS), this is a
hierarchical classification of administrative areas, used across the European Union (EU) for statistical
purposes. Further information is available on the Office for National Statistics website.

Page 79

This is in addition to a six-month programme of support, advice and training to
help the new businesses thrive.
9

During quarter three, in advance of a showcasing event for engineering and
manufacturing companies (EMCON 2018), 21 small and micro businesses from
across the county accessed ‘The Incubator Zone’, a support package for first
time exhibitors. The support package included help and advice on exhibiting at
large events as well as basic exhibition materials, designed and printed ready
for the show.

10

Business Durham has launched its ‘Powered by People’ campaign, the
objective of which is to give businesses, influential developers, employers and
partners, the ability to promote County Durham and grow business and jobs
across the county. The council, with Durham University, hosted a regional
business event on 31 January, bringing together businesses, key partners and
groups from across the county and wider North East to look at the role of the
North East in delivering the UK economy.

11

We also launched the annual Future Business Magnates competition, themed
‘Made in County Durham, sold to the world’. Pupils from local schools will
develop a product or service that can be made using skills found within the
county and exported around the world. The competition will be judged by
Business Durham in July.

12

December saw the return of ‘free after 3pm’ for all council owned parking. The
initiative, now in its sixth year, encourages people to shop locally and support
local businesses during the festive period. In addition, to support ‘Small
Business Saturday’ on 1 December, all council owned parking was free after
10am.

Page 80

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
3. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 4. Is it easy to travel around the county?

Decent and affordable housing
(Oct-Dec 18)
Properties improved / adapted / brought
411 back into use

Compared
to Q2



6%

households helped to stay in their homes



7%

households helped to move to alternative
336 accommodation

expected each
year

 12%

2,929 households accessed Housing Solutions
269 through homelessness prevention work

70,000
passengers

£10 million
invested

99% of
residents
surveyed said
they would use
the station
New access
road,

 21%

Horden
Train
Station

footpath &
cycleway will

2 x 100 metre
platforms
connected by an
accessible
footbridge

139 car
park spaces
and bus stops
will be created

be created

• Phase three
completed
• 94 new properties;
• 69 completions
• 12 affordable
homes
• 13 lets

Chester-le-Street

Eden Field
Newton Aycliffe

Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan 2019-29
• In partnership with
Keepmoat Homes, we
have begun work on a
78 home residential
development.
• includes affordable
homes for rent and
sale

Actions include:









Requiring new developments and roads to include cycling and pedestrian routes
Completing construction of the Great North Cycleway
Constructing Cycling Super Routes linking key settlements within 5 miles of Durham
City.
Implementing practices that enforce safety and attractiveness of cycling / walking
Supporting 20mph zones
Encouraging installation of cycle parking and electric charging points within easy
reach of workplaces.
Providing Health Walks for adults (Walk Durham)

Page 81

Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
13

The duty to refer, a statutory obligation on certain public bodies such as the NHS
or the police to refer those who are homeless or threatened with homelessness to
Housing Solutions, was introduced in October 2018. Consequently, we expected
an increase in the number of households accessing Housing Solutions during
quarters three and four. However, this was fewer than anticipated (87 clients). We
will enhance our communications to ensure public bodies are aware of and
adhering to the duty.

14

We are consulting on both the Housing Strategy and Homelessness Strategy,
alongside the County Durham Plan, until 8 March.

15

We are preparing a business case to widen selective licensing across the county.
If approved, this will require private landlords to obtain a licence for each of their
properties. Licensing should lead to improved housing standards, reliable longerterm tenancies, fewer empty properties, reduced anti-social behaviour and
reduced homelessness.

16

Our partnership with Keepmoat Homes has delivered almost 2,000 homes since
its establishment in 2001.

Is it easy to travel around the county?
17

Our Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery plan for 2019-2029 has now been
approved by Cabinet. The plan is supported by a five-year action plan which will
be translated into a work programme, so progress can be monitored.

18

Initial work on the new £10 million railway station at Horden is due to start during
February with the station expected to open to passengers in spring 2020.

Page 82

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?
North Pennines Stargazing Festival

2018 Tour Series (May 2018)

£118,748 estimated economic benefit

14,834

1,512 people attending ( 50% from 2017)
30 events held from 20 October-4 November
25% of festival goers stayed overnight ( 7% from 2017)
4.4 average number of nights stayed

people attended
heritage open day
events in September
2018

• 10,000 visitors
• £326,471 gross expenditure impact
• £158,036 net visitor expenditure
• £144.03 average spend per 24 hours

 15%

by overnight visitors (13% of visitors
stayed overnight)
• £81.03 average spend by day visitors

compared to the
previous year

£8.50 ROI for every £1 spent

Brass Festival (July 2018)

3,384

 64

280
tourism
businesses are
participating in
the Scheme

businesses
compared to Q3
2016/17 (30%)

visitors
from
Apr–Oct 2018

Binchester Roman Fort
82%
retention rate

179

101

renewals

new partners

Major enhancements include:



Page 83

installation of electricity to allow
modernisation of the ticketing system
and the extension of the opening season.
a new timber building to protect the
Roman Bath House.

• 23,757 visitors
• £492,383 net visitor spend
• £23.88 average individual spend
• £873,732 total net economic impact
• £115,000 DCC investment
• 760% ROI
Durham Book Festival (October 2018)
• 7,983 visitors
• £104,868 net visitor spend
• £548,256 total net economic impact
• £75,000 DCC investment
• 731% DCC ROI

Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables
Page 84

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document:
(a)

Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its
partners; and

(b)

Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the
council and its partners.

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate indicator set. This is available to
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk
KEY TO SYMBOLS
Direction of travel

Benchmarking

Performance against target

GREEN

Same or better than comparable period

Same or better than comparable group

Meeting or exceeding target

AMBER

Worse than comparable period
(within 2% tolerance)

Worse than comparable group
(within 2% tolerance)

Performance within 2% of target

RED

Worse than comparable period
(greater than 2%)

Worse than comparable group
(greater than 2%)

Performance >2% behind target

National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary
councils.
North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead,
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside,
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils.
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
1. Do residents have good job prospects?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

74.4*

Sep 17Aug 18

15,221

2016

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

71.3

75.2

70.8

N/a

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

Tracker

15,496

19,878

15,595

N/a

AMBER

RED

RED

1

% of working age population in
employment

2

Per capita household disposable
income (£)

3

Number of gross jobs created or
safeguarded as a result of Business
Durham activity

765

Oct-Dec
2018

Tracker

280.5

N/a

GREEN

4

% of 16 to 17 year olds in an
apprenticeship

5.1

As at 30
Sep 2018

Tracker

5.1

3.3

4.3

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

No

Yes

Yes

*provisional data

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
2. Is County Durham a good place to do business?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita
in County Durham (£)

16,718

2017

6

Number of registered businesses in
County Durham

17,120

2017

6

Oct-Dec
2018

Page 85

5

7

Value (£M) of new contracts secured

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

16,513

27,430

20,121

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

16,585

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Data
updated
Period
this
covered if
quarter
different
Yes

No

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 86

2. Is County Durham a good place to do business?

Ref

8

9

10

Comparison to
Description

Value (£M) of GVA growth from jobs
created
Number of Inward Investments
secured
% of Business Durham business floor
space that is occupied

Latest
data

Period
covered

19.2

Oct-Dec
2018

5

84.0

Period
target

12
months
earlier

10

New
indicator

GREEN

N/a

Oct-Dec
2018

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

Oct-Dec
2018

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Data
updated
Period
this
covered if
quarter
different
Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
3. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Comparison to
Latest
data

Period
covered

Number of properties improved,
adapted or brought back into use

411

12

Number of empty properties brought
back into use as a result of local
authority intervention

13

Number of net homes completed

14

Number of affordable homes
delivered

Ref

11

Description

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Oct-Dec
2018

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

152

Apr-Dec
2018

74

153

GREEN

AMBER

1,126

Apr-Dec
2018

Tracker

1,101

N/a

GREEN

473

2017/18

200

322

GREEN

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this quarter

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
3. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

15

Number of households accessing the
Housing Solutions Service

16

17

Number of households helped to stay
in their home
Number of households helped to
move to alternative accommodation

Latest
data

Period
covered

2,929

269

336

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Oct-Dec
2018

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

Oct-Dec
2018

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

Oct-Dec
2018

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this quarter

Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
4. Is it easy to travel around the county?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

% of A roads where maintenance is
recommended

3

2017/18

19

% of B and C roads where
maintenance is recommended

4

2017/18

20

% of unclassified roads where
maintenance is recommended

21

2017/18

21

Highways maintenance backlog
(£millions)

187.6

2017

Page 87

18

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

Tracker

3

3

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

3

6

N/a

AMBER

GREEN

Tracker

20

17

N/a

AMBER

RED

Tracker

191.7

N/a

GREEN

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
2016/17

No

2016/17

No

2016/17

No

No

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 88

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?

Ref

Comparison to
Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

22

Bridge Stock Condition – Principal
Roads

80.0

2017

23

Bridge Stock Condition – Non-Principal
Roads

81.0

2017

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

83.8

N/a

RED

Tracker

83.7

N/a

RED

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
No

No

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

24

Number of visitors to County Durham
(million)

19.71

2017

25

Number of jobs supported by the visitor
economy

11,682

2017

26

Amount (£ million) generated by the
visitor economy

866.71

2017

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

19.3

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

11,158

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

806

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
No

No

No

Other additional relevant indicators

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

28

Average point score per A level entry
of state-funded school students

32.6

30

% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in
education, employment or training
(NEET)

4.5%

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

2017/18

Tracker

31.9

31.1

30.8

30.7

(Academic
Year)

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

4.6%

2.4%

3.9%

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

Oct-Dec
2018

2016/17
Ac Yr

Yes

Yes

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?
Comparison to
Ref

65

66

Description

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in
education, employment or training
(EET)
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in
education, employment or training
(EET)

Latest
data

Period
covered

83

48

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

As at
31 Dec
2018

Tracker

New
definition

64

65

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

As at
31 Dec
2018

Tracker

New
definition

51

52

58

N/a

N/a

RED

RED

RED

2017/18

Yes

2017/18

Yes

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
26 March 2019
Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee Refresh of the Work Programme
Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and
Partnerships
Electoral division(s) affected:
None

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (E&E OSC) with the opportunity to review and refresh the
work programme for 2019/20.

Executive summary
2

The E&E OSC review their work programme each year to reflect the
five objectives and associated outcomes and actions identified within
the Council Plan for the Council’s Altogether Wealthier priority theme.

3

The Council Plan is set in the context of the Sustainable Community
Strategy which is undergoing a refresh process. This report reflects the
current Council Plan but recognises that a key priority in both the
current and the new Plan will be the Transformation Programme.

4

The report (paragraphs 10-12) provides information for members to
note activity undertaken by the committee during 2018/19 and enable
discussion to suggest areas for review activity or agenda items to be
included in the committee’s work programme for 2019/2020.

Recommendations
5

The E&E OSC is recommended to:
(a)

Note the proposed E&E OSC work programme in relation to the
current Council Plan 2016-2019 Altogether Wealthier theme
(copy attached at Appendix 2)

(b)

Note that a further report detailing the E&E OSC work programme
for 2019/20 will be submitted to the June 2019 meeting.

Page 91

Background
6

The current overview and scrutiny committees work programme focus
on the priority areas identified within the context of the:
 Council Plan
 Cabinet’s Notice of Key Decisions
 Sustainable Community Strategy
 Partnership plans and strategies
 Performance and budgetary control data
 Changes in government legislation

7

This year there is change underway in the policy context of the Council
as work is taking place to refresh the Sustainable Communities
Strategy (SCS). This is being undertaken because the SCS is now
almost ten years old. The new vision is expected to be in place in the
summer and will inform final versions of scrutiny work programmes.
The current Council Plan was developed in the context of the SCS and
there will be a chance for update once the new vision is agreed.
However the current Council Plan still applies.

Council Plan 2016 – 2019
8

To help improve the performance of the Council, there are currently five
objectives within the Altogether Wealthier elements of the Council Plan,
underpinned by 11 outcomes:
 Thriving Durham City
 Improved retail, business and tourism in Durham City and its
immediate locality.
 Increased developer interest in key sites.
 Improved infrastructure to support economic growth.


Vibrant and successful towns
 Improved retail, business and tourism in major town centres.
 Increased developer interest in key housing sites.
 Improved infrastructure to support economic growth.

 Sustainable neighbourhoods and rural communities
 Improved quality and choice of housing across County
Durham.
 Improved infrastructure to support economic growth in rural
areas.
Page 92

 Competitive and successful people
 Increased numbers of people in employment and training.


9

A top location for business
 Increased business creation.
 Development of existing businesses and safeguarding
employment.

Looking ahead to a new Council Plan, the key emerging issue to be
considered alongside it is the Council’s Transformation Programme
which supports progress on many of the objectives above.

Current Work Programme
10

During 2018/19, the Economic and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee has undertaken budgetary and performance monitoring, in
depth Scrutiny Reviews, systematic 6 monthly reviews of progress
against recommendations and overview presentations in relation to the
following areas:
In Depth Scrutiny Reviews
Thriving Durham City, Vibrant and successful towns, A top
location for business and competitive and successful people


Support provided to the retail sector by DCC – Improved retail,
business and tourism in Durham City and its immediate locality;
Improved retail, business and tourism in major towns; Increased
business creation; Development of existing businesses and
safeguarding employment and Increased numbers of people in
employment and training.

Systematic Review
Competitive and successful people


Skills Development supported by DCC within County Durham Increased numbers of people in employment and training.

Areas of overview activity
A Thriving Durham City


Digital Durham Programme – Improved Infrastructure to support
economic growth.

Page 93



Regional and local transport – Improved infrastructure to support
economic growth.

Vibrant and successful towns


Visit County Durham – Improved retail, business and tourism in
major town centres.

Sustainable neighbourhoods and rural communities


Homelessness Strategy – Improved quality and choice of housing
across County Durham.



Housing Strategy - Improved quality and choice of housing across
County Durham.



Private rented housing sector - Improved quality and choice of
housing across County Durham.



Selective Licensing - Improved quality and choice of housing across
County Durham.



Tackling empty properties Initiative - Improved quality and choice of
housing across County Durham.

Competitive and successful people


Skills strategy – Increased numbers of people in employment and
training.



DurhamWorks Programme –Increased numbers of people in
employment and training

A top location for business

Page 94



Local Industrial Strategy - Increased business creation;
Development of existing businesses and safe guarding employment.



Business Durham – Increased business creation; - Development of
existing businesses and safeguarding employment.



Investment pipeline in County Durham - Increased business
creation; development of existing businesses and safe guarding
employment.

Performance Monitoring
11

The committee has considered and commented on quarterly budget
and performance reports for the ReaL Service Grouping.

Cross Cutting Areas
12

The Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee has also
considered the following areas which cut across all objectives within the
Council Plan’s Altogether Wealthier priority theme:


County Durham Plan – 2 Workshops (Covers all objectives and
outcomes).

 Regional Funding – (Covers all objectives and outcomes).


European Funding Programme (Covers all objectives and
outcomes).



Overview of the work of the County Durham Economic Partnership –
(Covers all objectives and outcomes).

Areas for consideration in the E&E OSC
13

Paragraphs 10-12 of this report identifies the activity undertaken by the
committee during 2018/19. The committee has identified a number of
these areas for further progress updates and will need be included in
the committee’s work programme for 2019/2020.

14

With regard to review activity, the retail support provided by DCC review
has now been completed and considered by Cabinet. In addition, the
committee has held two workshops which have resulted in formal
responses submitted by Overview and Scrutiny in relation to the County
Durham Plan and the Housing Strategy. Looking ahead, members are
invited to suggest potential topics for future review activity for
2019/2020.

15

The committee will receive a further report at its meeting on the 27
June, 2019 detailing the proposed work programme for 2019/2020 and
will be asked to agree a topic for future review activity following today’s
discussion.

Conclusion
16

The report and appendix 2 provide information for members to note and
comment on activity undertaken during 2018/19 and suggest areas to
consider for review activity or agenda items within its work programme
for 2019/2020.

Page 95

Background papers
 Council Plan 2016 -19 – Cabinet report – March 2016
 Economy and Enterprise OSC - Refresh of work programme – 5 April
2018

Contact:

Page 96

Stephen Gwillym
Diane Close

Tel: 03000 268140
Tel: 03000 268141

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Not applicable

Finance
The Council Plan sets out the corporate priorities of the Council for the next
three years. The Medium Term Financial Plan aligns revenue and capital
investment to priorities within the Council Plan.

Consultation
Not applicable

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
A full impact assessment has previously been undertaken for the Council
Plan. The actions underpinning the Council Plan include specific issues
relating to equality and aim to improve the equality of life for those with
protected characteristics. The Plan has been influenced by consultation and
monitoring to include equality issues. There is no evidence of negative impact
for particular groups.

Human Rights
Not applicable

Crime and Disorder
The Altogether Safer section of the Council Plan sets out the Council’s
contributions to tackling crime and disorder.

Staffing
The Council’s strategies are being aligned to achievement of the corporate
priorities contained within the Council Plan.

Accommodation
The council’s Accommodation Programme is a key corporate programme
contained within the Council Plan.

Risk
Consideration of risk is undertaken in the preparation of the Council Plan and
Service Plans. The Overview and Scrutiny work programme is an important
element of the Council’s governance and risk management arrangements.

Procurement
Not applicable

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

Secured £20m of additional funding to provide additional infrastructure
in Newton Aycliffe and Sedgefield to support additional high tech and
manufacturing employment opportunities.

Supported the opening of Hitachi rail manufacturing in Newton Aycliffe and
the creation of thousands of high value employment opportunities.

Supported the development of Bishop Auckland as a major tourist
destination including a medieval open air night show which will create
employment in the town and visitors to the area.

Hosted the 4th Lumiere festival in November 2015, which attracted around
200,000 visitors to the City, along with the Magna Carta exhibition in the
summer of 2015 which attracted 25,000 visitors from across the globe.

Established ‘Chapter Homes’ a new housing delivery company which will
build new housing for market rent and sale commencing with Phase 1 in
Newton Aycliffe which will provide 125 homes.

The Altogether Wealthier theme remains the top priority of the council, with its
main aim to improve the economy and job prospects across the county. The
Council has a vision for a higher value, sustainable economy and strong ambitions
for further inclusive growth. Working with a range of partners and business we aim
to capitalise on our assets in order to improve our economic performance and the
prospects of our people. The key driver for a vibrant economy is to increase the
level of productivity and higher value employment across the county; improving
this will increase levels of disposable income and demand for goods and
services, increasing the numbers of businesses and providing the opportunities
to help tackle economic deprivation. As a county we need to utilise our assets to
stimulate investment and achieve growth whilst equipping residents with the skills
and access to opportunities to increase prosperity.
re

mie
Lu

re

hi
tac
Hi

Transferred our remaining housing stock to the Durham Housing Company.

Durham County Council was awarded the PATROL Annual Report Award
(Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London) for proactively publishing
information about traffic management to help the public better understand
parking regulations. This good practice approach has been adopted by
other local authorities.

Delivered superfast broadband through the Digital Durham programme with
over 63,040 premises able to access improved broadband services since
the programme began in April 2014.

Delivered physical regeneration improvements to enhance the economic
viability of major town centres, including; footpath, lighting, signage and
seating at Peterlee, Seaham, Crook and Consett.

Secured over £18m of European and external funding to support a major
employment support programme for young people in the County.

Successful completion of traffic projects in Durham City; Sunderland Bridge
Roundabout and Milburngate Bridge which was completed ahead of schedule.

mie
Lu

Appendix 2

Page 99











Page 100
























06/07









10/11







11/12





12/13

13/14


















09/10



08/09



07/08









NOTE: The axis on this graph does not start at zero

05/06



0-



County Durham
North East
England



64 -

66 -

68 -

70 -

72 -

74 -

%

Figure W1.

14/15

15/16

One of our main priorities for 2016/17 is to support the adoption of a new
statutory plan for County Durham to help guide development and stimulate
investment in sustainable locations. The plan will identify the quantity and
location of new development across the city, towns and villages of the county.

Durham City including Aykley Heads, provides a major opportunity for high
value development and employment opportunities. We are working with
a number of developers to bring forward key sites in the city as well as
working on an integrated package of measures to improve traffic flows and
promote sustainable transport.



Whilst the county has one of the largest business parks in the region, the
business base for the county is characterised by a large number of smaller
businesses. Supporting higher productivity and business growth will provide
significant employment opportunities. We will provide infrastructure to
capitalize on recent inward investments and grow supply chain activity to
support local procurement as well as to help manufacturing to grow and
innovate. The relatively higher paid employment opportunities will support
the local economy and increase the wealth generated in the area.

Employment levels in County Durham show there are currently 229,100
people defined as in employment, 68.1% of the working age population
but levels remain low and are still behind the regional (68.9%) and national
(73.1%) rates (Figure W1). In relation to unemployment the number of Job
Seekers Allowance (JSA) claimants have steadily decreased, in line with
the national picture. In order to address this we are looking at providing a
variety of programmes to improve people’s employment potential across the
county.

Following on from the success in rolling out the Digital Durham programme,
we need to stimulate demand activity in order to drive up take up by
premises of an improved broadband service, this to include leafleting
villages and road signage.

 Gross disposable household income has steadily increased from £8,799 to
£14,659 per head since 1997, which is in line with neighbouring authorities
but well below the national average. Within this theme are a number of key
projects to improve the economy and job prospects across the county.







































"

"

.

not deprived



the top 10% most deprived nationally
the top 10-20% most deprived nationally
the top 20-30% most deprived nationally

;

LSOA ranking within:

Although levels of deprivation in County Durham have improved we are
ranked the 75th most deprived area out of 326 local authorities in England
(Figure W2) and we have developed a poverty action plan in response
(see Altogether Better Council theme).

Figure W2.












E
A



D

7

0
1

/

/

/

C

B

-

9
/

;


/




>

;



A
0





0
/

1

/
6

6

"

!

/


2
/
)

3



"

)

!

5

+

@



0
1

/

1
0
%

@


'

/
$

/

$

4

?
.
7

-

7

$


1

*

5

8
%


%


(

/

#

"

%


!



$






5



0
%

/


#

,

%




,
-

$

1

$
*

+




>

.
(

;
&

$

=
'

<


0

0

;

$
/

%
'

:


0

"

.
-

/

#

'

1

&
%
-

1

-

Page 101

0

Figure W3.





Page 102









500





600









I



700 800

900 1000 1100

J


20

A

30



40

G

50



60

H

70

80

@









A



A





A





H

G







A

F

90 100 %

Properties let from Durham County
Council’s retail, commercial and
investment portfolio - 82%

Business Durham business floor
space that is occupied - 79%

10



Affordable homes delivered
494
Empty properties brought back into use 199
as a result of local authority intervention

0



Net homes completed
1083
(the sum of new build completions, minus demolitions)
Private sector homes improved
476

400



300

I

200



82%



100



494



79%



199

@

476

1083

Figure W4.






link to
County
Durham Plan

link to
Local Transport
Plan

Affordable homes delivered of which 130 were
delivered through Help to Buy - 2014/15

9LVLWRUVJHQHUDWHG PLQ&RXQW\'XUKDP
2014/15

Full time equivalent jobs were created through
business improvement grants - 2014/15

Gross jobs created or safeguarded as a result
of Business Durham activity - 2014/15

Passenger journeys recorded by the Park and
Ride service - 2014/15

Number of registered businesses in County
Durham

link to
Regeneration
Statement

link to
Digital Durham
Programme

link to
Housing
Strategies and
Policies

Increased
developer interest in
key sites

>
A


A





N

N





A









A



;
A


N
G





A








E

=


;
A

M








A


@












@
>

@


K


H



Improved
quality and choice
ce
of housing across
County Durham











?




=


M
A

L
A



N


N





A

Improved
infrastructure to
support economic
growth



Improved
infrastructure to
support economic
growth in
rural areas

=

Increased developer
interest in key housing
sites



Improved retail
business and tourism
in major town centres

Improved
infrastructure to
support economic
growth

Improved retail
business and tourism
in Durham City and its
immediate locality






M


;

A
M


@







C




N



;
A



G



Page 103

Increased numbers
of people in
employment and
training

Development of
existing businesses
and safeguarding
employment

Increased
business creation

Objective 1





=


A




A





N

N
=








A
A



;


;

M
















>
;


;



Page 104

:







A












N



G

:



;






=



A


@

;

N



@
H

@


N




;





M

@


A







G
















A




A

N

M





Q










N

>

A





C
A








:




@


;
A

A










A
O





?

A
N



=





A

A



A




?



N

N
M

O

P





A






;





;






O




>
A

M

L







:

;



A





;

A

A















G

A



G





M













@





@





N

H







H





;













;



>

A



@

>











K



Objective 5
A











A


N

M
A

A



=




A









A

















;



>

;



A





N



A



A

:




M

;

N



A









N



E

:


We will:
,PSURYHDFFHVVWRILQDQFHWRKHOS
businesses grow.
3URYLGHLQIUDVWUXFWXUHWRVXSSRUWKLJK
value manufacturing floor space.

A









A

A



















N



A
@





=


?

;




N

>


:





N











A


















;
>

;



A





N


A



A

:















A









N





A



@



=



?

;





N

>









:

N



A





A





M












A





<







=



;














=







;


A

H


>





We will support existing growing key
sectors, including manufacturing and
science by providing opportunities to
drive forward the county’s economy.

A









A









N



A


@



=


?

;



N

>







:
N



We will:
'HYHORSWKHURDGDQGSRZHU
infrastructure for Forrest Park business
space development, Newton Aycliffe.
3URJUHVVZLWKWKHSURMHFWIRUDQHZ
railway station in Horden.



We will:
8QGHUWDNHLPSURYHPHQWVDWWKH$
A179 Sheraton junction.
6HFXUHDGHYHORSHUIRUWKH1RUWK(DVW
Industrial Estate in Peterlee.



We will:
3UHSDUHIRUWKHSODQQLQJFRQVHQWIRU
the Western Relief Road in Durham,
which would provide an alternative
route from A690 and A691 on the
west of Durham and relieve the
congestion at Nevilles Cross.
&DUU\RXWWUDIILFIORZLPSURYHPHQWV
in Durham City at Gilesgate/Leazes
Bowl roundabout and A1(M)/A690
Junction Improvement.



We will continue with the Digital
Durham programme to provide homes,
businesses and communities with
access to fast, fibre broadband.



We will:
'HOLYHUDZLGHYDULHW\RI SURJUDPPHV
to support people into work including
Adults Skills training and the
apprenticeship programme.
'HOLYHUSURJUDPPHVWRVXVWDLQ
and improve people’s employment
potential.



We will progress the Aykley Heads
site project, which aims to deliver
a regeneration opportunity that will
provide new jobs and investment.



We will:
'HOLYHUDQGPDQDJHQHZEXLOG
housing for market rent and sale
via Chapter homes to meet market
demand.
'HYHORSDSULYDWHODQGORUG
accreditation scheme to improve
property condition in the private
rented sector.
'HYHORSWKHH[LVWLQJKRPHORDQV
scheme to assist private landlords
and home owners.
:RUNLQSDUWQHUVKLSZLWKVRFLDO
housing providers and public health
to introduce a number of housing and
health initiatives.

Objective 4



We will:
&DUU\RXWUHJHQHUDWLRQWRGHYHORSUHWDLO
areas and other works in the key towns
of Seaham, Peterlee, Consett, Crook
and Spennymoor.
(QDEOHGHYHORSPHQWDFWLYLW\DW%LVKRS
Auckland including the Kynren open air
night show, and the transformation of
Auckland Castle.
7DNHIRUZDUGWKHDGRSWLRQRIWKH
County Durham Plan.
6XSSRUWGHYHORSPHQWRI1RUWK(DVW
Plans such as the Local Transport Plan
and the Economic Plan.
&RPSOHWHWKH.LOOKRSH/HDG0LQLQJ
Museum development and implement
our Events and Festival programme.

Objective 3



We will:
5HGHYHORS1RUWK5RDGLQ'XUKDP
City to provide significant retail
investment.
6WUHQJWKHQRXUFXOWXUDORIIHULQFOXGLQJ
new visual art space in Durham City
and the wider county; a new cinema
and improved visitor experience at
Durham Town Hall.

Objective 2


A



